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Directors’ Report

The Directors submit their report together with 
the audited financial statements for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2018. 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing 
the annual report of Nedgroup Investments 
MultiFunds plc (the “Company”) and financial 
statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted 
by the European Union (the “EU”), interpretations 
adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”), the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2014, the European Communities 
(Undertakings for Collective Investment in 
Transferable Securities) Regulations, 2011, as 
amended (the “UCITS Regulations”) and the 
Central Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 
2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective 
Investment in Transferable Securities) Regulations 
2015 (the “Central Bank UCITS Regulations”).

Irish company law requires the Directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under 
that law, they have elected to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted 
by the European Union and applicable law.

Under Company Law, the Directors must not 
approve the financial statements until they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities and financial position of 
the Company and of its change in net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable participating 
shares for that financial year. In preparing the 
financial statements, the Directors are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then 
apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable accounting standards 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU; and 

• prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
presume that the Company will continue in 
business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping 
adequate accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the assets, 
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss for 
the Company and enable them to ensure that its 
financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with IFRS as adopted by the EU and comply with 
the Companies Act 2014, the UCITS Regulations 
and the Central Bank UCITS Regulations. In this 
regard, Citibank Europe plc has been appointed for 
the purposes of maintaining adequate accounting 
records. Accordingly, the accounting records are 
kept at the following address:

1 North Wall Quay,  
Dublin 1,  
Ireland. 

The Directors have general responsibility for 
taking such steps as are reasonably open to 
them to prevent and detect fraud and other 
irregularities. The Directors are also responsible for 
preparing a Directors’ Report that complies with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance 
and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Investment Manager’s 
website. Legislation in the Republic of Ireland 
governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

Corporate Governance Code

The Company has adopted in full the voluntary 
Code of Corporate Governance (“the Corporate 

Directors’ Report
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Governance Code”) for Collective Investment 
Schemes and Management Companies issued 
by the Irish Funds (“IF”), the text of which is 
available from the IF website, www.irishfunds.ie. 
The Company has been in compliance with the 
Corporate Governance Code during the financial 
year ended 30 June 2018.

The Company also has appointed Citi Depositary 
Services Ireland DAC (the “Depositary”) (formerly 
Citibank International Plc, Ireland Branch) as 
Depositary of its assets which the entity has 
responsibility for the safekeeping of such assets 
in accordance with the UCITS Regulations and 
exercising independent oversight over how the 
Company is managed. The Depositary is regulated 
by and under the supervision of the Central Bank 
of Ireland.

Review of Business and Future Development

The business of the Company is reviewed in detail 
in the Investment Manager’s Report on pages 9 to 
11. The Company intends to continue promoting 
and generating interest in its business in the future.

The Net Asset Value per Share of the Growth 
MultiFund, the Balanced MultiFund and the 
Income MultiFund (the “Funds”) is set out in Note 
7 to the financial statements.

Results

The results of the operations for the financial year 
are set out in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. A review of the activities of the Funds is 
contained in the Investment Manager’s Report.

Key Performance Indicators

The Directors consider that the change in net asset 
value (“NAV”) per share is a key indicator of the 
performance of the Company. Key performance 
indicators (“KPI’s”) monitored by the Directors 
for each Fund include: the month to month 
movement in the NAV per share; the share capital 

movements; and performance of the relevant 
Sub-Fund against the benchmark it follows, where 
relevant.

Segregated Liability

The Company is an umbrella Fund with segregated 
liability between sub-funds. 

Principal Risks

Details of the principal risks and uncertainties, 
which the Company faces, are listed in Note 12 to 
the financial statements.

Distribution Policy

The Directors decide the dividend policy and 
arrangements relating to each Fund and where 
applicable, details are set out in the relevant 
Supplements to the Prospectus.

Dividends were paid during the financial year 
relating to Class A GBP Distributing, Class B GBP 
Distributing and Class C GBP Distributing of the 
Nedgroup Investments Income MultiFund. Further 
details are set out in Note 11 to the financial 
statements.

Share Capital

The net assets under management were GBP 
372,208,190 (2017: GBP 349,430,863). Full details 
of the Company’s share capital and changes during 
the financial year are disclosed in Note 6.

Connected Person Transactions

Regulation 41 of the Central Bank UCITS Regulations 
“restrictions of transactions with connected persons” 
states that “a responsible person shall ensure that 
any transaction between a UCITS and a connected 
person is conducted a) at arm’s length; and b) in the 
best interest of the unitholders of the UCITS”. 

As required under UCITS Regulation 78.4, the 
Directors, as responsible persons are satisfied that 
there are in place arrangements, evidenced by 
written procedures, to ensure that the obligations 

Directors’ Report (continued)
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that are prescribed by UCITS Regulation 41(1) are 
applied to all transactions with a connected person; 
and all transactions with a connected person that 
were entered into during the financial year to which 
the report relates complied with the obligations 
that are prescribed by UCITS Regulation 41(1).

Directors 

The Directors who held office during the financial 
year from 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 were:

John Skelly

Yvonne Connolly

Lorcan Murphy

Tracey Wiltcher

Andrew Lodge

The Directors, who held office at 30 June 2018, 
as stated above are not required to retire by 
rotation under the Constitution. All Directors of 
the Company attended five Board meetings each 
during the financial year.

Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests in Shares 

Andrew Lodge and Tracey Wiltcher held 3,484 
and 113 shares respectively in the Nedgroup 
Investments Growth MultiFund Class C GBP shares 
as at 30 June 2018 (30 June 2017: 3,484 and 44 
shares respectively). John Skelly, Yvonne Connolly 
and Lorcan Murphy did not hold any interest, 
beneficial or otherwise, in the share capital of the 
Company during the financial year ended 30 June 
2018 (30 June 2017: Nil). 

The Company Secretary did not hold any interest, 
beneficial or otherwise, in the share capital of the 
Company during the financial year ended 30 June 
2018 (30 June 2017: Nil).

Transactions Involving Directors

The Board of Directors are not aware of any estimates 
or arrangements of any significance in relation to the 
business of the Company in which the Directors had 

any interest as defined in the Companies Act 2014 
at any time during the financial year ended 30 June 
2018 (2017: Nil), other than those disclosed in Note 
5 to the financial statements.

Directors’ Compliance Statement

The Directors, acknowledge that they are responsible 
for securing the Company’s compliance with the 
relevant obligations as set out in Section 225 of the 
Companies Act 2014. The Directors confirm that: 

a) a compliance policy statement has been drawn 
up setting out the Company’s policies (that, in 
the Directors’ opinion, are appropriate to the 
Company) with respect to compliance by the 
Company with its relevant obligations; 

b) appropriate arrangements or structures are 
in place that, in the Directors’ opinion, are 
designed to secure material compliance with 
the Company’s relevant obligations, and 

c) a review of the arrangements or structures 
referred to in paragraph (b) above has been 
conducted during the financial year ended 30 
June 2018. 

Employees

There were no employees of the Company during 
the financial year under review (2017: Nil)

Remuneration Policy 

The full remuneration policy is available on the 
website www.nedgroupinvestments.com and 
additional information (unaudited) is provided on 
page 64.

Significant Events during the Financial Year

There were no other significant events during the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018.

Significant Events since the Financial Year End

There were no significant events affecting the 
financial statements since the financial year ended 
30 June 2018.

Directors’ Report (continued)
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Accounting Records

The Directors ensure compliance with the 
Company’s obligation to maintain adequate 
accounting records by appointing competent 
persons to be responsible for them. The Company’s 
accounting records are kept by Citibank Europe plc.

Audit Committee Requirement

In accordance with Section 167(2) of the 
Companies Act 2014, the Board is required to 
either establish an audit committee or decide not 
to establish one. The Directors did not form an 
audit committee based on the following rationale:

(a) The Company is authorised as a self-managed 
investment company with the Central Bank 
pursuant to UCITS Regulations;

(b) As a self-managed investment company 
authorised pursuant to the UCITS Regulations, 
the Company is obliged by the Central 
Bank to have a Business Plan in which it 
identifies directors (the Designated Directors) 
responsible for, among other areas, Financial 
Control, Accounting Policy and Procedures, 
Internal Audit, Monitoring of Capital, 
Monitoring Compliance and Risk Management. 
As a result, the Company has systems in place 
whereby named Designated Directors take 
initial responsibility for each such area and any 
material issues arising are referred to the Board 
of Directors for review and, as applicable, 
action; 

(c) The Company has its own conflicts of interest 
policy and the Board of Directors receives 
confirmation of the auditor’s independence 
annually; 

(d) The nature, scale and complexity of the 
Company’s sub-funds do not warrant an audit 
committee;

(e) The Directors believe that the Company already 
has adequate procedures in place that cover, in 
all material respects, the areas of responsibility 
of an audit committee, as provided for in 
Section 167(7) of the Companies Act 2014.

Audit Information Statement

In accordance with Section 330 of the Companies 
Act 2014, the Directors hereby confirm that:

(a) So far as the Directors are aware, there is 
no relevant audit information of which the 
Company’s statutory auditor is unaware; and 

(b) The Directors have taken all the steps that 
ought to have been taken as a Director in order 
to make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the 
Company’s statutory auditor is aware of that 
information.

Independent Auditor

The Company’s Independent Auditor, KPMG, 
Chartered Accountants, have indicated their 
willingness to continue in office in accordance 
with Section 383(2) of the Companies Act 2014. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors:

John Skelly  
Date: 17 October 2018 

 

Yvonne Connolly 
Date: 17 October 2018 

Directors’ Report (continued)
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We have enquired into the conduct of Nedgroup 
Investments MultiFunds plc (‘the Company’) for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018, in our capacity 
as Depositary to the Company.

This report including the opinion has been prepared 
for and solely for the shareholders in the Company 
as a body, in accordance with the Central Bank 
of Ireland’s UCITS Regulations, and for no other 
purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept 
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or 
to any other person to whom this report is shown.

Responsibilities of the Depositary 

Our duties and responsibilities are outlined in the 
Central Bank of Ireland’s UCITS Regulations, Part 12. 
One of those duties is to enquire into the conduct of 
the Company in each annual accounting period and 
report thereon to the shareholders.

Our report shall state whether, in our opinion, 
the Company has been managed in that period in 
accordance with the provisions of the Company’s 
Memorandum and Articles of Association and the 
UCITS Regulations. It is the overall responsibility of 
the Company to comply with these provisions. If the 
Company has not so complied, we as Depositary 
must state why this is the case and outline the steps 
which we have taken to rectify the situation.

Basis of Depositary Opinion

The Depositary conducts such reviews as it, in its 
reasonable opinion, considers necessary in order 
to comply with its duties as outlined in UCITS 
Regulations, Part 12 and to ensure that, in all 
material respects, the Company has been managed 

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed 
on its investment and borrowing powers by the 
provisions of its constitutional documentation 
and the appropriate regulations and (ii) otherwise 
in accordance with the Company’s constitutional 
documentation and the appropriate regulations.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Company has been managed 
during the financial year, in all material respects:

(i) in accordance with the limitations imposed on 
the investment and borrowing powers of the 
Company by the Memorandum and Articles of 
Association and by the European Communities 
(Undertakings for Collective Investment in 
Transferable Securities) Regulations 2015, as 
amended, (‘the Regulations’); and

(ii) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of 
the Memorandum and Articles of Association 
and the Regulations.

Citi Depositary Services Ireland Designated 
Activity Company

1 North Wall Quay

Dublin 1

Ireland

Date: 17 October 2018

Report of the Depositary to the Shareholders
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Investment Managers’ Report for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2018

General Market Commentary

The twelve month period ending June 2018 was 
essentially a “game of two halves”, with the strong 
returns seen in the second half of 2017 followed by 
a much tougher first six months of 2018. The latter 
part of 2017 was a rewarding period for investors, 
with stronger than expected economic data from 
a number of countries and regions (including the 
Eurozone, Japan and many emerging economies) 
reaffirming that the synchronized global recovery 
remained on track. Corporate earnings were also 
strong, with the majority of companies beating 
expectations on both revenues and earnings. A 
notable positive event was the US Senate’s (albeit 
narrow) passing of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, with 
the most important element for financial markets 
being the cut to the corporate tax rate from 35 to 21 
percent. In comparison, after a very strong January, 
the mood of financial markets shifted suddenly, 
making it much more difficult for investors during 
the remaining five months of the period. Although 
global economic data releases softened a little 
(albeit from elevated highs), the overall picture 
remained one of decent growth for 2018. In 
searching for explanations for the sudden volte-face 
in market conditions, there are perhaps a number 
of factors worth highlighting. Firstly, in our view, 
the lack of volatility through 2017 created a degree 
of complacency on the part of investors. Linked to 
that, we believe that the strong returns seen over 
the last year pushed financial markets beyond fair 
value, heightening the risk of a market pullback. 
Secondly, robust and synchronised global growth 
focussed investors’ minds on whether central banks 
might choose to accelerate their shift away from 
the extraordinarily accommodative policies that 
they have pursued over recent years. A third factor 
was Trump’s determined attack on Chinese trade 
policy. Having purged his inner circle of some of 
the more moderate voices, Trump announced the 
imposition of tariffs on US$50bn worth of American 

imports from China, which was duly reciprocated 
with equivalent measures from the Chinese. Is this 
Trump just extending his “Art of the Deal” business 
negotiating tactics to the international stage? 
Certainly many commentators think so, including 
ourselves, even though we recognise the risk of an 
escalation into a full blown trade war with all its 
economically damaging ramifications.

Against this background, equity markets rose 
strongly, with the MSCI AC World Index returning 
+10.7% when measured in US dollars, although as 
mentioned above this return was predominantly 
generated in the second half of 2017. Amongst 
the majors, US (+13.9%), Japan (+10.5%), and UK 
(+10.0%) led the way, whilst Europe-ex UK (+3.5%) 
was the most significant laggard. At the sector 
level, the improved outlook for economic growth 
meant cyclicals, such as Information Technology 
(+26.5%) and Energy (+25.0%) clearly outpaced 
stable earners, such as Utilities (+3.9%), Healthcare 
(-0.2%) and Telecoms (-3.7%). In terms of style, 
Growth (+16.4%) dominated Value (+6.1%), whilst 
higher risk smaller companies (+14.2%) rose more 
than larger companies (+10.7%).

The divergence in monetary policy meant the 
returns in fixed income over the period varied 
significantly by country. However, looking globally, 
the JP Morgan Government Bond Index rose +1.9%, 
whilst the Merrill Lynch Global Investment Grade 
Corporate Bond Index gained a more modest +0.7%. 
In other areas, emerging market bonds came under 
pressure over worries that increasing US interest 
rates and a rising dollar could be a headwind for 
some emerging market countries, as witnessed by 
the decline in the JP Morgan Emerging Market Bond 
Index (-2.4%). However, solid economic growth 
and generally higher investor risk appetite proved 
supportive for high yield with the Merrill Lynch 
Global High Yield Bond Index rising +2.1% during 
the twelve month period. 
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General Market Commentary  (continued) 

Although the Bloomberg Commodities Index rose 
+7.3%, the headline number masked significant 
differences across the sub-sectors. Crude Oil 
(+58.9%) and Industrial Metals (+15.2%) were 
positively impacted by demand / supply dynamics 
and the solid economic environment. In contrast, 
Agriculture (-13.3%) fell as good weather conditions 
led to an increase in supply, which generally 
depressed prices. Finally, safe haven Gold (+0.2%) 
was flat, in part because higher US government 
bond yields effectively raises the opportunity cost 
of holding the asset class as it doesn’t provide any 
cash flow.  

It was a mixed picture for the US dollar, falling in the 
second half of 2017, before dramatically recovering 
in the first half of 2018 as the divergence in 
monetary policy became more pronounced. Overall 
the US dollar fell against the euro (-2.2%), yen 
(-1.5%) and pound (-1.4%), but advanced against a 
number of emerging market currencies, such as the 
Brazilian real (+16.8%), Mexican peso (+9.5%) and 
South African rand (+5.4%). 

The Nedgroup Investments Growth MultiFund 
returned +6.3% in US dollar terms from 1 July 2017 
to 30 June 2018, which, for reference, compares 
to the Morningstar USD Aggressive Allocation 
peer group average return of +6.0%. The Growth 
MultiFund’s stated benchmark, USD 3-month 
LIBID +3% to +5%, returned +4.7% to +6.7% 
over the period. As a higher risk profile fund, the 
absolute performance of the Growth MultiFund 
was driven mainly by its exposure to global equities, 
which rose over the period. In terms of current 
strategy, the portfolio continues to be underweight 
equities and bonds, whilst overweighting other 
income-generating assets, such as listed property, 
infrastructure (traditional and renewable energy), 
asset-backed lending and cash. Within equities, the 
portfolio remains overweight better valued non-US 

equities. In other areas, the US dollar is favoured 
over most other currencies, whilst the strategy 
also seeks to protect against the risk of increased 
interest rates by maintaining a bias towards shorter 
dated bonds. Looking forward, we expect the US 
dollar to be well supported by its higher yield and 
wide interest rate differential. Where appropriate, 
the strategy has a bias towards the US dollar, which 
we anticipate will remain strong in the second half 
of 2018.  

In addition, the portfolio holds a diversified exposure 
to carefully selected emerging market currencies 
which, in our view, offer good relative value. Clearly 
the first half of 2018 has been a much more difficult 
time for investors, with higher volatility and meagre 
returns across most asset classes. Whilst valuations 
have improved as earnings have risen, at least with 
respect to equities, we continue to believe a degree 
of caution is warranted. 

The Nedgroup Investments Balanced MultiFund 
returned +3.8% in US dollar terms from 1 July 2017 
to 30 June 2018, which, for reference, compares to 
the average return of +2.8% for the Morningstar 
USD Moderate and USD Cautious Allocation 
peer groups. The Balanced MultiFund’s stated 
benchmark, USD 3-month LIBID +1% to +3%, 
returned +2.7% to +4.7% over the period. As a 
medium risk profile fund, the absolute performance 
was aided by its exposure to bonds (due to tilts 
towards credit, especially high yield debt), as well as 
its allocation to global equities. In terms of current 
strategy, the portfolio continues to be underweight 
equities and bonds, whilst overweighting other 
income-generating assets, such as listed property, 
infrastructure (traditional and renewable energy), 
asset-backed lending and cash. Within equities, it 
remains overweight better valued non-US equities, 
whilst within fixed income, the portfolio continues 
to have a strong tilt towards investment grade credit 
and better quality short dated higher yield debt 

Investment Managers’ Report for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)
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(although this was recently moderated by switching 
some exposure to US treasuries). Looking forward, 
we anticipate the US dollar will be well supported 
by its higher yield and wide interest rate differential 
and accordingly, the portfolio has a bias towards 
the greenback. In addition, the portfolio holds a 
diversified exposure to carefully selected emerging 
market currencies which, in our view, offer good 
relative value. Clearly the first half of 2018 has been 
a much more difficult time for investors, with higher 
volatility and meagre returns across most asset 
classes. Whilst valuations have improved as earnings 
have risen, at least with respect to equities, we 
continue to believe a degree of caution is warranted.  
 
The Nedgroup Investments Income MultiFund 
returned +1.3% in US dollar terms from 1 July 2017 
to 30 June 2018, which, for reference, compares 
to the Morningstar Global Bonds USD Hedged 
peer group average return of +0.6%. The Income 
MultiFund’s stated benchmark, USD 3-month 
LIBID, returned +1.7% for the same period. As a 
low risk profile fund, the absolute performance of 
the Income MultiFund was aided by its exposure 
to corporate bonds (especially high yield), which 
outperformed other fixed income sectors over the 
period. In terms of strategy, the portfolio continues 
to have a strong tilt towards investment grade 
credit and better quality short dated higher yield 

debt, although this was recently moderated by 
adding exposure to US treasuries. The portfolio also 
includes a modest weighting across a diversified 
mix of other income-generating assets, such as 
listed property, infrastructure (traditional and 
renewable energy), asset-backed lending and 
higher yielding equities. Looking forward, because 
we believe US interest rates are much closer to 
normal than those of other advanced economies, 
we regard the US bond market to be less risky and 
better value than places such as the Eurozone, the 
UK and Japan. Based on this view, the fixed income 
element of portfolios has a significant tilt towards 
US bonds, and away from areas still being distorted 
by quantitative easing. In addition, the portfolio 
holds a diversified exposure to carefully selected 
emerging market currencies which, in our view, offer 
good relative value. Clearly the first half of 2018 has 
been a much more difficult time for investors, with 
higher volatility and meagre returns across most 
asset classes. Whilst valuations have improved 
as earnings and yields have risen, we continue to 
believe a degree of caution is warranted. 

Nedgroup Investments (IOM) Limited

July 2018

Investment Managers’ Report for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds plc

1 Report on the audit of the financial  
 statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of 
Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds plc (‘the 
Company’) for the financial year ended 30 June 
2018 set out on pages 24 to 60, which comprise 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the 
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of 
Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable 
Participating Shareholders, the Statement of 
Cash Flows and the related notes, including the 
summary of significant accounting policies set out 
in note 2. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is Irish Law 
and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial 
statements:

• give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities 
and financial position of the Company as 
at 30 June 2018 and of its increase in net 
assets attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares for the financial year then 
ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance 
with IFRS as adopted by the EU; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2014, 
the European Communities (Undertakings 
for Collective Investment in Transferable 
Securities) Regulations 2011 and the Central 
Bank (Supervision and Enforcement) Act 2013 
(Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective 
Investment in Transferable Securities) 
Regulations 2015.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs 
(Ireland)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of financial statements in Ireland, including the 
Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and 
Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

Going concern 

We have nothing to report on going concern

We are required to report to you if we have 
concluded that the use of the going concern 
basis of accounting is inappropriate or there is an 
undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast 
significant doubt over the use of that basis for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date 
of approval of the financial statements. We have 
nothing to report in these respects.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other 
information presented in the Annual report 
together with the financial statements. The other 
information comprises the information included 
in the directors’ report, the directory, depositary’s 
report, investment manager’s report, significant 
purchases and sales (unaudited) and additional 
information (unaudited). Our opinion on the 



13Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds PLC      Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds plc 
(continued)
financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, accordingly, we do not express 
an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated 
below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our 
financial statements audit work, the information 
therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our audit knowledge. 
Based solely on that work we have not identified 
material misstatements in the other information.

Based solely on our work on the other information

• we have not identified material misstatements 
in the directors’ report;

• in our opinion, the information given in the 
directors’ report is consistent with the financial 
statements; 

• in our opinion, the directors’ report has been 
prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2014. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2014

We have obtained all the information and 
explanations which we consider necessary for the 
purposes of our audit.

In our opinion the accounting records of the 
Company were sufficient to permit the financial 
statements to be readily and properly audited and 
the financial statements are in agreement with the 
accounting records.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception

The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to 
you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ 
remuneration and transactions required by 
sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

2  Respective responsibilities and restrictions  
 on use

Responsibilities of directors for the financial 
statements

As explained more fully in the directors’ 
responsibilities statement set on page 4, the 
directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 
control as they determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements of the 
Company, the directors are responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless they either 
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud or 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members 
of Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds plc 
(continued)
other irregularities is higher than one resulting 
from error, as they may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentation, or the 
override of internal controls and may involve any 
area of law and regulation not just those directly 
affecting the financial statements. 

A fuller description of our responsibilities is 
provided on IAASA’s website at https://www.
iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-
a98202dc9c3a/Descr ipt ion_of_aud i tors_
responsiblities_for_audit.pdf

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we 
owe our responsibilities 

Our report is made solely to the Company’s 
members, as a body, in accordance with section 
391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our audit work 
has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Company’s members those matters we are required 
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by 

law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Company and the 
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Darina Barrett
for and on behalf of 
KPMG
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
1 Harbourmaster Place 
International Financial Services Centre 
Dublin 1 
Ireland

Date: 17 October 2018 



15Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds PLC      Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Schedule of Investments as at 30 June 2018

Nedgroup Investments Growth MultiFund 

Holdings Quantity
Fair Value 

USD
% of  

Net Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 97.67% (2017: 97.13%)

Money Market Funds – 5.54% (2017: 8.02%)
Money Market Funds

Institutional Cash Series plc - Institutional US Dollar Liquidity Fund (UCITS) 108,035 11,167,330 5.54%

11,167,330 5.54%

Total Money Market Funds 11,167,330 5.54%

Investment Funds – 91.72% (2017: 89.04%)

Equity Funds

Allianz Global Small Cap Equity (UCITS) 4,187 9,285,272 4.61%

Coronation Global Emerging Market Fund (UCITS) 663,743 7,738,646 3.84%

Dodge & Cox Worldwide Funds plc - Global Stock Fund (UCITS) 1,269,288 26,781,972 13.29%

Morgan Stanley Investment Funds - Global Brands Fund (UCITS) 146,115 9,379,114 4.65%

Most Diversified Portfolio SICAV - TOBAM Anti-Benchmark World 
Equity Fund (UCITS) 789 12,465,964 6.19%

Nedgroup Investments Funds plc - Global Equity Fund (UCITS) 11,784,527 23,619,728 11.72%

89,270,696 44.30%

Fixed Income Funds

Franklin Templeton Investment Funds - Templeton Global Total Return 
Fund (UCITS) 130,748 3,691,022 1.83%

3,691,022 1.83%

Index Funds

Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock Index Fund/Ireland (UCITS) 65,313 12,239,614 6.07%

Vanguard Investment Series plc - Global Stock Index Fund (UCITS) 1,429,399 39,396,533 19.55%

51,636,147 25.62%

Property Funds

F&C Commercial Property Trust Ltd (AIF) 2,233,783 4,441,423 2.20%

Impact Healthcare REIT plc (AIF) 2,542,604 3,457,579 1.72%

Nedgroup Investment Funds plc - Global Property (UCITS) 9,378,900 9,981,964 4.95%

Standard Life Investment Property Income Trust (AIF) 1,280,488 1,573,915 0.78%

Target Healthcare REIT Ltd (AIF) 1,324,074 1,931,660 0.96%

21,386,541 10.61%
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Schedule of Investments as at 30 June 2018 
(continued)

Holdings Quantity
Fair Value 

USD
% of  

Net Assets
Other Funds

3i Infrastructure plc (AIF) 745,930 2,202,044 1.09%

GCP Asset Backed Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 2,110,636 2,856,231 1.42%

Greencoat Renewables plc (AIF) 1,609,259 2,029,202 1.01%

Greencoat UK Wind plc/Funds (AIF) 3,700,368 6,116,534 3.03%

John Laing Environmental Assets Group Ltd (AIF) 1,508,137 2,060,807 1.02%

SQN Asset Finance Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 2,949,016 3,597,537 1.79%

18,862,355 9.36%

 Total Investment Funds 184,846,761 91.72%

Unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts - 0.41% (2017: 0.07%)

Maturity 
Date

Issue 
Currency

Currency 
Received

Settle 
Currency

Currency 
Delivered

Unrealised 
Gain USD

% of  
Net Assets

31/07/2018 GBP 12,508,880 USD 16,471,018 68,474 0.03%

31/07/2018 GBP 7,303,209 USD 9,616,471 39,978 0.02%

31/07/2018 GBP 3,140,693 USD 4,135,495 17,192 0.01%

31/07/2018 GBP 15,851 USD 20,791 166 0.00%

31/07/2018 USD 43,084 GBP 32,512 95 0.00%

17/08/2018 USD 29,552,712 GBP 21,800,000 704,485 0.35%

Total unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts 830,390 0.41%

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 196,844,481 97.67%

Nedgroup Investments Growth MultiFund (continued) 
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Schedule of Investments as at 30 June 2018 
(continued)

Nedgroup Investments Growth MultiFund (continued) 

Unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts - (0.01)% (2017: (0.16)%)

Maturity 
Date

Issue 
Currency

Currency 
Received

Settle 
Currency

Currency 
Delivered

Unrealised 
Loss USD

% of  
Net Assets

31/07/2018 USD 74,932 GBP 56,926 (336) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 44,656 GBP 33,925 (200) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 26,000 GBP 19,752 (117) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 GBP 33,750 USD 44,724 (99) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 4,713 GBP 3,580  (20) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 18,719 GBP 14,166  (12) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 590 GBP 450 (5) (0.00)%

17/08/2018 EUR 900,000 USD 1,069,124 (14,375) (0.01)%

Total unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts (15,164) (0.01)%

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (15,164) (0.01)%

Deposits with credit institutions  
Other assets and liabilities  
(excluding net assets attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders)

4,854,644 2.41%

(142,804) (0.07)%

Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders 201,541,157 100.00%

Portfolio 
Analysis

Fair Value 
USD

% of 
Total Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to official stock 
exchange listing 11,167,330 5.52%

UCITS 154,579,829 76.44%

AIF 30,266,932 14.97%

OTC financial derivative instruments 830,390 0.41%

Deposits with credit institutions 4,854,644 2.40%

Other current assets 526,663 0.26%

Total Assets 202,225,788 100.00%

The counterparty to all open OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts as at 30 June 2018 was Citigroup.
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Schedule of Investments as at 30 June 2018 
(continued)

Holdings Quantity
Fair Value 

USD
% of  

Net Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 99.61% (2017: 98.32%)

Money Market Funds – 11.76% (2017: 15.08%)
Money Market Funds

Institutional Cash Series plc - Institutional US Dollar Liquidity Fund (UCITS) 261,016 26,980,601 11.76%

26,980,601 11.76%

Total Money Market Funds 26,980,601 11.76%

Investment Funds – 87.21% (2017: 83.11%)

Equity Funds

Allianz Global Small Cap Equity (UCITS) 2,747 6,091,019 2.65%

Coronation Global Emerging Market Fund (UCITS) 384,402 4,481,787 1.95%

Dodge & Cox Worldwide Funds plc - Global Stock Fund (UCITS) 709,719 14,975,077 6.53%

Morgan Stanley Investment Funds - Global Brands Fund (UCITS) 93,983 6,032,775 2.63%

Most Diversified Portfolio SICAV - TOBAM Anti-Benchmark World 
Equity Fund (UCITS) 458 7,242,363 3.16%

Nedgroup Investments Funds plc - Global Equity Fund (UCITS) 6,580,014 13,188,321 5.75%

52,011,342 22.67%

Fixed Income Funds

AXA Fixed Interest ICVC - US Short Duration High Yield Fund (UCITS) 7,300,204 13,319,846 5.80%

Franklin Templeton Investment Funds - Templeton Global Total Return 
Fund (UCITS) 366,985 10,359,984 4.51%

Kames High Yield Global Bond (UCITS) 2,573 28,258 0.01%

Muzinich Short Duration High Yield Fund (UCITS) 83,404 9,518,899 4.15%

PIMCO Funds Global Investors Series plc - Global Investment Grade 
Credit Fund (UCITS) 623,420 11,595,605 5.05%

Wellington Management Funds Ireland plc - Wellington Global Credit 
Plus Fund (UCITS) 1,134,844 14,111,443 6.15%

58,934,035 25.67%

Index Funds

Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock Index Fund/Ireland (UCITS) 41,378 7,754,144 3.38%

Vanguard Investment Series plc - Global Stock Index Fund (UCITS) 867,256 23,902,965 10.42%

Vanguard Investment Series plc - US Government Bond Index Fund 
(UCITS) 53,140 9,488,850 4.13%

41,145,959 17.93%

Nedgroup Investments Balanced MultiFund  
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Schedule of Investments as at 30 June 2018 
(continued)

Nedgroup Investments Balanced MultiFund (continued) 

Holdings Quantity
Fair Value 

USD
% of  

Net Assets

Property Funds

F&C Commercial Property Trust Ltd (AIF) 2,660,671 5,290,203 2.31%

Impact Healthcare REIT plc (AIF) 3,001,228 4,081,242 1.78%

Nedgroup Investment Funds plc - Global Property (UCITS) 11,374,999 12,106,411 5.28%

Standard Life Investment Property Income Trust (AIF) 1,743,902 2,143,522 0.93%

Target Healthcare REIT Ltd (AIF) 1,546,296 2,255,855 0.98%

25,877,233 11.28%

Other Funds

3i Infrastructure plc (AIF) 845,044 2,494,637 1.09%

GCP Asset Backed Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 2,446,225 3,310,369 1.44%

Greencoat Renewables plc (AIF) 1,901,852 2,398,148 1.05%

Greencoat UK Wind plc/Funds (AIF) 4,294,590 7,098,755 3.09%

John Laing Environmental Assets Group Ltd (AIF) 1,903,340 2,600,836 1.13%

SQN Asset Finance Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 3,500,941 4,270,836 1.86%

22,173,581 9.66%

Total Investment Funds 200,142,150 87.21%

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 99.61% (2017: 98.32%)

Unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts - 0.64% (2017: 0.13%)

Maturity 
Date

Issue 
Currency

Currency 
Received

Settle 
Currency

Currency 
Delivered

Unrealised 
Gain USD

% of  
Net Assets

31/07/2018 GBP 24,068,353 USD 31,691,907 131,750 0.06%

31/07/2018 GBP 22,467,426 USD 29,583,893 122,987 0.05%

31/07/2018 GBP 6,909,663 USD 9,098,271 37,823 0.02%

31/07/2018 GBP 33,133 USD 43,461 348 0.00%

31/07/2018 GBP 30,394 USD 39,869 319 0.00%

31/07/2018 USD 3,889 GBP 2,927 19 0.00%

31/07/2018 GBP 3,250 USD 4,279 19 0.00%

31/07/2018 GBP 3,405 USD 4,482 19 0.00%

17/08/2018 USD 50,669,744 GBP 37,400,000 1,177,901 0.51%

Total unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts 1,471,185 0.64%

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 228,593,936 99.61%
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Schedule of Investments as at 30 June 2018 
(continued)

Maturity 
Date

Issue 
Currency

Currency 
Received

Settle 
Currency

Currency 
Delivered

Unrealised 
Gain USD

% of  
Net Assets

31/07/2018 USD 55,011 GBP 41,965 (475) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 72,555 GBP 55,120 (325) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 70,546 GBP 53,593 (316) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 46,537 GBP 35,349 (202) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 25,640 GBP 19,479 (115) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 31,941 GBP 24,173 (20) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 30,586 GBP 23,147 (19) (0.00)%

17/08/2018 EUR 1,300,000 USD 1,543,385 (19,859) (0.01)%

Total unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts (21,331) (0.01)%

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (21,331) (0.01)%

Deposits with credit institutions  
Other assets and liabilities  
(excluding net assets attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders)

1,365,597 0.60%

(452,755) (0.20)%

Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders 229,485,447 100.00%

Portfolio 
Analysis

Fair Value 
USD

% of 
Total Assets

Transferable securities and money market instruments admitted to official stock 
exchange listing 26,980,601 11.71%

UCITS 164,197,747 71.29%

AIF 35,944,403 15.61%

OTC financial derivative instruments 1,471,185 0.64%

Deposits with credit institutions 1,365,597 0.59%

Other current assets 373,409 0.16%

Total Assets 230,332,942 100.00%

The counterparty to all open OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts as at 30 June 2018 was Citigroup.

Nedgroup Investments Balanced MultiFund (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - (0.01)% (2017: (0.12)%)
Unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts - (0.01)% (2017: (0.16)%)
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Schedule of Investments as at 30 June 2018 
(continued)

Holdings Quantity
Fair Value 

GBP
% of  

Net Assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 98.23% (2017: 95.57%)

Money Market Funds – 0.00% (2017: 2.64%)

Investment Funds – 98.23% (2017: 92.93%)
Equity Funds

iShares UK Dividend UCITS ETF 153,143 1,368,486 2.99%

1,368,486 2.99%

Fixed Income Funds

AXA Fixed Interest ICVC - US Short Duration High Yield Fund (UCITS) 5,798,671 5,489,022 12.00%

Franklin Templeton Investment Funds - Templeton Global Total Return 
Fund (UCITS) 365,871 3,636,753 7.95%

Kames High Yield Global Bond (UCITS) 130,326 1,394,255 3.05%

Kames Short Dated High Yield Global Bond Fund (UCITS) 325,057 3,185,949 6.97%

Muzinich Short Duration High Yield Fund (UCITS) 63,585 5,486,130 12.00%

PIMCO Funds Global Investors Series plc - Global Investment Grade 
Credit Fund (UCITS) 578,193 7,730,444 16.90%

Wellington Management Funds Ireland plc - Wellington Global Credit 
Plus Fund (UCITS) 563,470 6,003,149 13.13%

32,925,702 72.00%

Index Funds

Vanguard Investment Series PLC - US Government Bond Index Fund 
(UCITS) 37,218 3,734,207 8.16%

3,734,207 8.16%

Property Funds

F&C Commercial Property Trust Ltd (AIF) 653,779 984,591 2.15%

Impact Healthcare REIT plc (AIF) 393,120 404,914 0.89%

Standard Life Investment Property Income Trust (AIF) 313,344 291,723 0.64%

Target Healthcare REIT Ltd (AIF) 407,407 450,185 0.98%

2,131,413 4.66%

Nedgroup Investments Income MultiFund
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Schedule of Investments as at 30 June 2018 
(continued)

Nedgroup Investments Income MultiFund (continued) 

Holdings Quantity
Fair Value 

GBP
% of  

Net Assets
Other Funds

3i Infrastructure plc (AIF) 232,145 519,076 1.13%

GCP Asset Backed Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 655,126 671,504 1.48%

Greencoat Renewables plc (AIF) 438,889 419,177 0.92%

Greencoat UK Wind plc/Funds (AIF) 1,089,638 1,364,227 2.98%

John Laing Environmental Assets Group Ltd (AIF) 885,804 916,807 2.00%

SQN Asset Finance Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 947,014 875,041 1.91%

4,765,832 10.42%

Total Investment Funds 44,925,640 98.23%

Unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts - 0.00% (2017: 0.00%)

Maturity 
Date

Issue 
Currency

Currency 
Received

Settle 
Currency

Currency 
Delivered

Unrealised 
Gain GBP

% of  
Net Assets

31/07/2018 USD 50,000 GBP 37,633 182 0.00%

31/07/2018 GBP 20,964 USD 27,711 6 0.00%

Total unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts 188 0.00%

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 44,925,828 98.23%

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - (0.21)% (2017: (0.17)%)

Unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts - (0.21)% (2017: (0.17)%)

Maturity 
Date

Issue 
Currency

Currency 
Received

Settle 
Currency

Currency 
Delivered

Unrealised 
Loss GBP

% of  
Net Assets

31/07/2018 USD 8,338,538 GBP 6,333,186 (26,718) (0.06)%

31/07/2018 USD 11,618 GBP 8,860 (73) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 GBP 11,366 USD 15,070 (31) (0.00)%

31/07/2018 USD 22,157,968 GBP 16,829,151 (70,997) (0.15)%

Total unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts (97,819) (0.21)%

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (97,819) (0.21)%

Deposits with credit institutions  
Other assets and liabilities  
(excluding net assets attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders)

1,487,790 3.25%

(581,082) (1.27)%

Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders 45,734,717 100.00%
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(continued)

Nedgroup Investments Income MultiFund (continued) 

Portfolio 
Analysis

Fair Value 
GBP

% of 
Total Assets

UCITS 38,028,395 80.96%

AIF 6,897,245 14.68%

OTC financial derivative instruments 188 0.00%

Deposits with credit institutions 1,487,790 3.17%

Other current assets 558,530 1.19%

Total assets 46,972,148 100.00%

The counterparty to all open OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts as at 30 June 2018 was Citigroup.



24Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds PLC      Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Statement of comprehensive income for the
financial year ended 30 June 2018

Note

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Growth 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Balanced 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Income
MultiFund

GBP

Total
30 June

2018
GBP

Income

Dividend income 2(f) 1,790,201 2,479,823 1,767,747 4,927,919

Other income 2(f) 281,304 196,665 57,315 411,052
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2(h) 11,027,802 7,271,889 (1,254,109) 12,289,179

Total investment income 13,099,307 9,948,377 570,953 17,628,150

Expenses

Management and distribution fees 10 2,194,880 2,447,672 294,578 3,730,451

Administration fees 10 146,574 207,742 58,670 320,893

Directors' fees and expenses 9 18,346 22,134 4,065 34,024

Other expenses 187,099 223,525 60,884 364,780

Transaction costs 2(n) 3,191 3,429 1,388 6,287

Audit fees 10 14,321 17,289 3,161 26,555

Depositary fees 10 72,617 85,038 21,024 137,702

Total operating expenses 2,637,028 3,006,829 443,770 4,620,692

Net income before finance costs 10,462,279 6,941,548 127,183 13,007,458

Less: finance costs: Distributions 11 - - (367,076) (367,076)

Net income/(expense)after finance costs 10,462,279 6,941,548 (239,893) 12,640,382

Other comprehensive income

Notional FX adjustment - - - (4,569,311)

Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets Attributable 
to Redeemable Participating Shareholders 10,462,279 6,941,548 (239,893) 8,071,071

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of comprehensive income for the
financial year ended 30 June 2017 (continued)

Note

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Growth 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Balanced 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Income
MultiFund

GBP

Total
30 June

2017
GBP

Income

Dividend income 2(f) 801,219 1,456,914 1,301,233 3,075,518

Other income 2(f) 235,384 181,138 108,743 436,017
Net gain on financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2(h) 23,044,756 15,730,996 715,057 31,182,372

Total investment income 24,081,359 17,369,048 2,125,033 34,693,907

Expenses

Management and distribution fees 10 2,019,891 2,442,119 307,083 3,813,023

Administration fees 10 104,260 120,321 43,481 219,941

Directors' fees and expenses 9 13,646 13,646 10,760 32,204

Other expenses 110,501 123,793 75,644 259,736

Transaction costs 2(n) 3,920 5,204 1,236 8,405

Audit fees 10 10,831 10,831 8,545 25,566

Depositary fees 10 61,377 77,399 18,399 127,440

Total operating expenses 2,324,426 2,793,313 465,148 4,486,315

Net income before finance costs 21,756,933 14,575,735 1,659,885 30,207,592

Less: finance costs: Distributions 11 - - (414,968) (414,968)

Net income after finance costs 21,756,933 14,575,735 1,244,917 29,792,624

Other comprehensive income

Notional FX adjustment - - - 7,128,828

Increase in Net Assets Attributable to 
Redeemable Participating Shareholders 21,756,933 14,575,735 1,244,917 36,921,452

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of financial position at 30 June 2018

Note

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Growth 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Balanced 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Income
MultiFund

GBP

Total
30 June

2018
GBP

Assets

Non-pledged financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss:

Investments in money market funds 2(i) 11,167,330 26,980,601 - 28,894,475

Investments in investment funds 2(i) 184,846,761 200,142,150 44,925,640 336,528,678

Unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign 
currency exchange contracts 2(i) 830,390 1,471,185 188 1,743,475

Deposits with credit institutions 8 4,854,644 1,365,597 1,487,790 6,199,201

Due from broker 3 206,110 170,478 - 285,240

Subscriptions receivable 270,852 142,643 496,672 809,866

Fund asset cash balances 2(p) - 3,595 - 2,723

Dividends receivable 49,197 56,307 55,235 135,147

Other assets and prepaid expenses 504 386 6,623 7,297

Total Assets 202,225,788 230,332,942 46,972,148 374,606,102

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss:

Unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign 
currency exchange contracts 2(i) (15,164) (21,331) (97,819) (125,461)

Due to broker 3 (206,063) (169,698) (495,000) (779,614)

Redemptions payable (177,045) (304,536) (457,567) (822,332)

Fund assets payable 2(p) - (3,595) - (2,723)

Management and distribution fees payable 10 (174,956) (190,598) (23,210) (300,092)

Administration fees payable 10 (56,106) (105,026) (29,778) (151,825)

Depositary fees payable 10 (7,271) (8,880) (2,664) (14,897)

Other payables (48,026) (43,831) (131,393) (200,968)

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares) 

(684,631) (847,495) (1,237,431) (2,397,912)

Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable 
Participating Shareholders 201,541,157 229,485,447 45,734,717 372,208,190

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

John Skelly  
Date: 17 October 2018 

Yvonne Connolly 
Date: 17 October 2018 

On Behalf of the Board of Directors:
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Statement of financial position at 30 June 2017
(continued)

Note

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Growth 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Balanced 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Income
MultiFund

GBP

Total
30 June

2018
GBP

Assets

Non-pledged financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss:

Investments in money market funds 2(i) 11,167,330 26,980,601 - 28,894,475

Investments in investment funds 2(i) 184,846,761 200,142,150 44,925,640 336,528,678

Unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign 
currency exchange contracts 2(i) 830,390 1,471,185 188 1,743,475

Deposits with credit institutions 8 4,854,644 1,365,597 1,487,790 6,199,201

Due from broker 3 206,110 170,478 - 285,240

Subscriptions receivable 270,852 142,643 496,672 809,866

Fund asset cash balances 2(p) - 3,595 - 2,723

Dividends receivable 49,197 56,307 55,235 135,147

Other assets and prepaid expenses 504 386 6,623 7,297

Total Assets 202,225,788 230,332,942 46,972,148 374,606,102

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss:

Unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign 
currency exchange contracts 2(i) (15,164) (21,331) (97,819) (125,461)

Due to broker 3 (206,063) (169,698) (495,000) (779,614)

Redemptions payable (177,045) (304,536) (457,567) (822,332)

Fund assets payable 2(p) - (3,595) - (2,723)

Management and distribution fees payable 10 (174,956) (190,598) (23,210) (300,092)

Administration fees payable 10 (56,106) (105,026) (29,778) (151,825)

Depositary fees payable 10 (7,271) (8,880) (2,664) (14,897)

Other payables (48,026) (43,831) (131,393) (200,968)

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares) 

(684,631) (847,495) (1,237,431) (2,397,912)

Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable 
Participating Shareholders 201,541,157 229,485,447 45,734,717 372,208,190

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Note

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Growth 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Balanced 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Income
MultiFund

GBP

Total
30 June

2017
GBP

Assets

Non-pledged financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss:

Investments in money market funds 2(i) 14,795,962 33,215,823 1,000,000 37,961,996

Investments in investment funds 2(i) 164,182,009 183,091,467 35,203,529 302,552,908

Unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign 
currency exchange contracts 2(i) 135,137 282,087 125 321,326

Deposits with credit institutions 8 5,634,679 4,500,063 934,093 8,736,350

Due from broker 3 185,012 3,449,501 1,400,969 4,199,008

Subscriptions receivable 189,806 1,327,863 10,744,407 11,912,788

Fund asset cash balances 2(p) 37,555 452,868 429,360 806,913

Dividends receivable 38,248 48,767 45,117 112,106

Other assets and prepaid expenses 855 305 18,134 19,027

Total Assets 185,199,263 226,368,744 49,775,734 366,622,422

Liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss:

Unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign 
currency exchange contracts 2(i) (296,749) (254,417) (65,328) (489,645)

Due to broker 3 (186,227) (2,590,335) (1,893,818) (4,031,361)

Redemptions payable (31,359) (2,500,563) (9,386,968) (11,336,175)

Fund assets payable 2(p) (37,555) (452,868) (429,360) (806,913)

Management and distribution fees payable 10 (175,469) (203,538) (25,312) (317,092)

Administration fees payable 10 (19,112) (21,023) (7,988) (38,886)

Depositary fees payable 10 (7,677) (9,685) (2,454) (15,820)

Other payables (50,887) (44,672) (82,101) (155,667)

Total Liabilities (excluding net assets 
attributable to holders of redeemable 
participating shares) 

(805,035) (6,077,101) (11,893,329) (17,191,559)

Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable 
Participating Shareholders 184,394,228 220,291,643 37,882,405 349,430,863

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of changes in net assets attributable 
to redeemable participating shareholders for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Statement of changes in net assets attributable 
to redeemable participating shareholders for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2017

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Growth 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Balanced 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Income
MultiFund

GBP
Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders as at 
start of the financial year 184,394,228 220,291,643 37,882,405

Proceeds from redeemable participating shares issued 33,558,759 38,609,536 26,473,905

Payments for redeemable participating shares redeemed (26,874,109) (36,357,280) (18,381,700)

Increase/(Decrease) in net assets attributable to redeemable 
participating shareholders from operations 10,462,279 6,941,548 (239,893)

Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders 
as at end of the financial year 201,541,157 229,485,447 45,734,717

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Growth 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Balanced 
MultiFund

USD

Nedgroup  
Investments 

Income
MultiFund

GBP
Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders as at 
start of the financial year 157,620,522 202,147,767 26,130,635

Proceeds from redeemable participating shares issued 39,146,410 56,317,586 27,746,112

Payments for redeemable participating shares redeemed (34,129,637) (52,749,445) (17,239,259)

Increase/(Decrease) in net assets attributable to redeemable 
participating shareholders from operations 21,756,933 14,575,735 1,244,917

Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders 
as at end of the financial year 184,394,228 220,291,643 37,882,405

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows for the financial years 
ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017

Company Total 
2018
GBP 

Company Total 
2017
GBP

Cash flows from operating activities

Increase in net assets attributable to redeemable participating shareholders 8,071,071 36,921,452

Adjustments to reconcile income attributable to redeemable participating 
shareholders to net cash used in operating activities:  

Amounts due from broker 3,913,768 (1,056,104)

Amounts due to broker (3,251,747) (486,722)

Dividends receivable (23,041) (32,108)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (26,330,398) (54,468,468)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (364,184) 448,852

Operating expenses paid 152,047 112,575

Distribution 367,076 414,968

Net cash used in operating activities (17,465,408) (18,145,555)

Cash flows from financing activities  

Proceeds from issue of redeemable participating shares 70,878,915 57,209,978

Payment on redemption of redeemable participating shares (55,583,580) (40,470,385)

Distribution (367,076) (414,968)

Net cash from financing activities 14,928,259 16,324,625

Net decrease in deposits with credit institutions (2,537,149) (1,820,930)

Deposits with credit institutions as at 1 July 8,736,350 10,557,280

Deposits with credit institutions as at 30 June 6,199,201 8,736,350

Supplementary cash flow information

Dividend income received 4,904,878 3,043,410

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018

1. General information
 Structure

Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds plc (the “Company”) is an umbrella fund with segregated liability between 
Sub-Funds (the “Sub-Funds”) established as an open-ended investment Company with variable capital. It was 
redomiciled into Ireland on 19 August 2011 under the laws of Ireland as a public limited company pursuant to 
the Companies Act 2014 and the European Communities (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable 
Securities) Regulations, 2011 as amended (the “UCITS Regulations”) and the Central Bank (Supervision and 
Enforcement) Act 2013 (Section 48(1)) (Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities) 
Regulations 2015 (the “Central Bank UCITS Regulations”) and has been authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland 
as an Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities (UCITS). Its share capital is divided into 
a number of classes each representing interests in a Fund and each Sub-Fund may comprise various classes of 
shares. The subscriber shares do not entitle the holders to participate in the assets of any of the Sub-Funds. 

As at 30 June 2018, the Company consisted of the following Funds and active share classes:

Sub-Fund Share Classes

Nedgroup Investments Growth MultiFund A GBP, A USD, B GBP, B USD, C GBP, C USD

Nedgroup Investments Balanced MultiFund A GBP, A USD, B GBP, B USD, C GBP, C USD

Nedgroup Investments Income MultiFund A GBP Acc, A USD Acc, A GBP Dist, C GBP Acc, C USD Acc, C GBP Dist

 
Investment Objectives of the Sub-Funds  
Nedgroup Investments Growth MultiFund (the “Growth MultiFund”)

 The investment objective of the Growth MultiFund is to provide higher levels of growth with moderate to higher 
levels of risk and volatility over the medium to longer term compared to the other Sub-Funds of the Company.

 Nedgroup Investments Balanced MultiFund (the “Balanced MultiFund”) 

 The investment objective of the Balanced MultiFund is to provide growth with moderate levels of risk and 
volatility over the medium to longer term compared to the other Sub-Funds of the Company.

 Nedgroup Investments Income MultiFund (the “Income MultiFund”)

 The investment objective of the Income MultiFund is to provide a lower risk, lower volatility investment option 
compared to other Sub-Funds of the Company, targeting returns in excess of cash.
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

2. Significant Accounting Policies
 The significant accounting policies adopted by the Company are as follows:

a) Statement of Compliance

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as 
adopted by the European Union (the “EU”), interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”), the provisions of the Companies Act 2014, the UCITS Regulations and the Central Bank UCITS 
Regulations.

b) Basis of Measurement

 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial instruments at fair 
value through profit and loss, which are measured at fair value. The financial statements are prepared on a going 
concern basis.

c) Use of Estimates and Judgements

 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

 Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any 
future periods affected. 

 There are no significant judgements identified for the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

d) Standards and amendments to existing standards effective for the financial year beginning 1 July 2017

 Amendments to IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2017.

 These amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-
cash changes. 

 The amendments state that one way to fulfil the new disclosure requirement is to provide a reconciliation 
between the opening and closing balances in the statement of financial position for liabilities arising from 
financing activities. The Company does not expect the measurement and classification requirements to have a 
significant impact on its financial statements. This is because of the following:

 (1) The redeemable participating shares are classified as financial liabilities and are disclosed in the statement  
 of cash flows under financing activities. The reconciliation of opening and closing balances of redeemable  
 participating shares is already disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to  
 Redeemable Participating Shareholders; and

 (2) Changes in redeemable participating shares are disclosed separately under financing activities in the  
 Statement of Cash Flows while changes in other assets and other liabilities are disclosed separately under  
 operating activities.
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

 Amendments to IAS 12, ‘Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses’ became effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax where an 
asset is measured at fair value and that fair value is below the asset’s tax base.

 Adoption of these amendments did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. There 
are no other standards, amendments to standards or interpretations that are effective for annual periods 
beginning on 1 July 2017 that have a material effect on the financial statements of the Company.

e) New standards, amendments and interpretations for future reporting periods that not been 
early adopted:

 IFRS 9: Financial instruments
 The Standard includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, a new 

expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets carried at amortised cost, and new 
general hedge accounting requirements.

 It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and de-recognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. IFRS 
9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted. 
Based on the initial assessment, this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company. This 
is because the financial instruments currently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) will continue 
to be measured at FVTPL under IFRS 9 and those currently measured at amortised cost will continue to be 
measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9.

 IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers (annual periods starting on/after 1 January 2018).

 IFRS 16: Leases (effective for annual periods starting on/after 1 January 2019).

 IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (effective for annual periods starting on/after 1 January 2021).

 The Company does not expect the new standards to impact the financial instruments.

 There are no other standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective 
that would be expected to have a significant impact on the Company.

f) Revenue Recognition
 Dividends are recognised as income on the dates the securities are first quoted “ex-dividend” to the extent 

that information thereon is reasonably available to the Company. Bank deposit interest and other income are 
accounted for on an accrual basis.

g) Fees and Expenses

 Expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis.

h) Net Gains and Losses on Investments
 Realised gains and losses on the sale of investments are calculated based on an average cost basis. The associated 

foreign exchange movement between the date of purchase and the date of sale on the sale of investments is 
included in net gain on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. Unrealised 
gains and losses on investments arising during the financial year are also included in net gain on financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)



33Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds PLC      Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

i) Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
i) Classification

 The Company has classified its investments into the financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit or loss category. The category of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss comprises:

 Financial instruments held for trading. These include money market funds, investment funds and all 
derivative financial instruments. All derivatives in a net receivable position (positive fair value), are reported 
as financial assets held for trading. All derivatives in a net payable position (negative fair value), are reported 
as financial liabilities held for trading.

 Other financial assets classified as loans and receivables consist of deposits with credit institutions, amounts 
due from broker, amounts receivable for shares sold, dividends receivable and other receivables.

 Financial liabilities that are not at fair value through profit or loss include amounts due to credit institutions, 
amounts payable for shares purchased, amounts due to broker, accrued expenses, other payables and 
financial liabilities arising on redeemable participating shares.

ii) Recognition

 The Company recognises financial assets or financial liabilities on the date it becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised 
using trade date accounting. Investments are originally recognised at fair value, and transaction costs for all 
financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed as incurred.

 A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract 
is discharged, cancelled or expires.

iii) Measurement

 Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value (transaction price). Transaction costs on financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, all instruments classified at fair value through profit or losses are measured at fair value 
with changes in their fair value recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

 Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less impairment losses, if any. Financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit 
or loss, are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

 Financial liabilities arising from redeemable shares issued by the Sub-Funds are carried at redemption 
amount representing the investor’s right to a residual interest in the Sub-Fund’s assets.

iv) Fair value measurement principles

 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is based 
on their quoted market prices on a recognised exchange or sourced from reputable brokers/counterparties 
or independent market data providers, in the case of non-exchange traded instruments, at the financial year 
end date without any deduction for estimated future selling costs. Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are priced at their last traded prices.

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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 For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market or where no broker/counterparty quotes 
can be obtained, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation techniques, which include using 
arm’s length transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument that is substantially 
the same; discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models making as much use of available and 
supportable market data as possible.

 Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management’s 
best estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the financial year end date applicable for an 
instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where other pricing models are used, inputs are based on 
market data at the financial year end date. Fair values for unquoted equity investments are estimated, if 
possible, using applicable price/earnings ratios for similar listed companies adjusted to reflect the specific 
circumstances of the issuer.

 The fair value of derivatives that are not exchange-traded shall be estimated at the amount that the 
Company would receive or pay to terminate the contract at the financial year end date taking into account 
current market conditions (volatility, appropriate yield curve) and the current creditworthiness of the 
counterparties. 

 The fair value of any investments in open-ended investment funds shall be valued at market value. Market 
value is based on the underlying fund administrator’s calculation of the Net Asset Value per share (market 
value of the fund’s assets less liabilities / number of shares) which will be the latest price published by the 
investment fund.

 The fair value of any investments in closed-ended investment funds (exchange traded funds) shall be valued 
at market value. Market value is based on the prices available on the principal market for such security at 
the valuation date taking into account any adjustments that may be required to account for illiquidity, low 
trading volumes or any such factors that may indicate that the price may not be fair value. 

v) Offsetting financial instruments

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial 
Position where the Company has a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts and where 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

vi) Specific instruments

 Investment Funds are schemes that pool the assets of investors. The scheme invests in a wide range of 
assets based on the investment policy of the scheme (e.g. equity, fixed income, index, property, etc.). The 
participants of the scheme do not have any day-to-day control over the management of the scheme but 
share in the profits or income generated by the Investment Fund.

 Money Market Funds consist of investments that have a term to maturity of less than one year.

 Deposits with credit institutions are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and are held for the purpose 
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or for other purposes.

 OTC (over-the-counter) forward foreign currency exchange contracts are commitments to either purchase 
or sell a designated currency at a specified future date for a specified price. OTC forward foreign currency 
exchange contracts are valued by reference to the forward price at which a new contract of the same size 
and maturity could be undertaken at the valuation date. 

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
i) Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued)

iv) Fair value measurement principles (continued)
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The unrealised gain or loss on open OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts is calculated as the 
difference between the contract rate and the forward price (the rate to close out the contract). Unrealised 
gains and losses on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and reported in the Statement of Financial Position as an asset or a liability respectively.

j) Functional and Presentation Currency

 The functional currencies reflect the currencies of the primary economic environment in which the Sub-Funds 
and the Company operate. The presentation currency of the Growth MultiFund and the Balanced MultiFund is 
USD. The presentation currency of the Income MultiFund is GBP. The functional currency of the Company is 
USD. The Directors have chosen to present the results for the Company in GBP.

 For the purpose of aggregating the financial statements of the Sub-Funds, the Statement of Financial Position 
figures for the Growth MultiFund and the Balanced MultiFund have been translated to GBP at the exchange rate 
at financial year end, while the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Cash Flows figures 
for the Growth MultiFund and the Balanced MultiFund have been translated to GBP at the average exchange 
rate for the financial year. The resulting gain or loss that arises at Company level has no effect on the Net Asset 
Value per share attributable to the individual Sub-Funds. 

k) Foreign Currencies 

 Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into GBP at the exchange rate 
prevailing at the financial year end date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
that are measured at fair value are translated into GBP at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value 
was determined. Foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation and realised gains and losses on 
disposals or settlements of monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Foreign currency exchange differences relating to investments at fair value through the profit or loss 
and derivative financial instruments are included in realised gains and losses on investments and in realised and 
unrealised gains and losses on forward foreign currency exchange contracts, respectively.

l) Redeemable Participating Shares

 All redeemable shares issued by a Sub-Fund provide the investors with the right to require redemption for cash 
at the value proportionate to the investor’s share in the Sub-Fund’s net assets at the redemption date. Such 
instruments give rise to a financial liability for the present value of the redemption amount. In accordance with 
the Prospectus, each Sub-Fund is contractually obliged to redeem shares at the Net Asset Value per share on the 
relevant dealing day less any duties and charges. 

m) Distributions

 Distributions to holders of redeemable participating shares are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as finance costs when they are authorised and no longer at the discretion of the Sub-Fund.

n) Transaction Costs

 Transaction costs are accounted for as of the date securities are purchased or sold and are included in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including 
employees acting as selling agents), advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities 
exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or discounts, financing 
costs or internal administrative costs.

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
i) Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued)

vi) Specific instruments (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

o) Withholding Tax Expense

 The Company is exempt from paying income taxes under the current system of taxation in Ireland. Certain 
dividend and interest income received by the Sub-Funds is subject to withholding tax imposed in the country of 
origin.

p) Fund Asset Cash Balances

 Fund asset cash balances, including an appropriate equal and opposing liability, are reflected at a Sub-Fund level 
on the Statement of Financial Position. They represent umbrella cash collection account balances attributable 
to the individual Sub-Funds of the Company. These amounts relate to subscription and redemption monies, 
including dividend money, that are due to an individual Sub-Fund, as fund assets, and which are held in an 
umbrella cash collection account in the name of the Company.

q) Rebate Income

 Rebate income is received by a Sub-Fund by virtue of its investment in the units of another Investment Fund 
where the Manager has negotiated a discounted management fee on its investment in the units of the underlying 
Investment Fund. Rebate income is accounted for on an accruals basis in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

3. Balances Due from/to Broker
 Margin accounts represent cash deposits with brokers, transferred as collateral against open derivative contracts. 

The Sub-Funds may use brokers to transact derivatives transactions, including those with central counterparties.

 In accordance with the Company’s policy of trade-date accounting for regular-way sale and purchase 
transactions, sale/purchase transactions awaiting settlement represent amounts receivable/payable to 
securities sold/purchased but not yet settled as at the reporting date.

 Balances due from and to broker for each of the Sub-Funds as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 are detailed in 
the Statement of Financial Position on pages 26 and 27 respectively.

4. Taxation
 Under current law and practice the Company qualifies as an investment undertaking as defined in Section 739B 

of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997, as amended. On this basis, it is generally not chargeable to Irish tax on its 
income or gains.

 However, Irish tax can arise on the happening of a “chargeable event” in the Company. A chargeable event 
includes any payments of distributions to shareholders, any encashment, repurchase, redemption, cancellation 
or transfer of shares and any deemed disposal of shares as described below for Irish tax purposes arising as a 
result of holding shares in the Company for a period of eight years or more. Where a chargeable event occurs, 
the Company is required to account for the Irish tax thereon.

 No Irish tax will arise on the Company in respect of chargeable events where:

(a) a shareholder who is not Irish resident nor ordinarily resident in Ireland at the time of the chargeable event, 
provided the necessary signed statutory declarations are held by the Company; or

(b) certain exempted Irish resident investors who have provided the Company with the necessary signed 
statutory declarations; or

(c) any transactions in relation to shares held in a recognised clearing system as designated by order of the 
Revenue Commissioners of Ireland; or

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

(d) an exchange of shares representing one Sub-Fund for another Sub-Fund of the Company; or

(e) an exchange of shares arising on a qualifying amalgamation or reconstruction of the Company with another 
company; or

(f) certain exchanges of shares between spouses and former spouses.

In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the Company will be liable to Irish tax on the occurrence of a 
chargeable event.

There were no chargeable events during the financial year under review. Dividends, interest and capital gains 
(if any) received on investments made by the Company may be subject to withholding taxes imposed by the 
country of origin and such taxes may not be recoverable by the Company or its shareholders.

5. Related Parties
 Transactions with parties with significant influence

 Nedgroup Investments (IOM) Limited is the Investment Manager of the Company. Investment Manager fees 
incurred by the Company during the financial year ended at 30 June 2018 amounted to GBP 3,730,451 (30 
June 2017: GBP 3,813,023). Investment Manager Fees payable by the Company at financial year end were GBP 
300,092 (30 June 2017: GBP 317,092).

 The Growth and Balanced MultiFunds have holdings in the Nedgroup Investments Funds plc - Global Equity 
Fund and Global Property Fund, to which Nedgroup Investments (IOM) Limited is also appointed Investment 
Manager and Distributor. The annual management charge of the Global Equity Fund Class D is 0.75%; the 
Nedgroup Investments Growth MultiFund and the Nedgroup Investments Balanced MultiFund receive a rebate 
of 0.20%, making the effective fee paid 0.55%. The annual management charge of the Global Property Fund 
Class C is 1.00%; the Nedgroup Investments Growth MultiFund and the Nedgroup Investments Balanced 
MultiFund receive a rebate of 0.40%, making the effective fee paid 0.60%.

 Transactions with Key Management Personnel

 Andrew Lodge and Tracey Wiltcher, each a Director of the Company, are also Directors of the Investment 
Manager. 

 Fees paid to the Directors during the financial year are disclosed in Note 9.

 John Skelly and Yvonne Connolly are both affiliated with Carne Global Financial Services Limited, a firm 
which provides company secretary, fund governance and VAT registration services to the Company. Company 
secretary, fund governance and VAT registration services fees charged during the financial year amounted to 
GBP 46,068 (30 June 2017: GBP 41,833).

 The following Directors held shares in the Company as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017:

Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds plc Fund/Class 30 June 2018 
Shares

30 June 2017 
Shares

Andrew Lodge Growth/C GBP 3,484 3,484

Tracey Wiltcher Growth/C GBP 113 44

4. Taxation (continued)
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6. Share Capital
 The Company was incorporated as a public limited liability company in the Isle of Man on 28 August 2001. 

 The Company was registered (by way of continuation) in Ireland under the Companies Acts as an open-ended 
umbrella investment company with variable capital and with segregated liability between Sub-Funds on 19 
August 2011. At the date hereof, the authorised share capital of the Company is 100 subscriber shares of 1 EUR 
each and 1,000,000,000 shares of no par value initially designated as unclassified shares.

 The subscriber shares entitle the shareholders holding them to attend and vote at all meetings of the Company. 
The subscriber shares do not entitle the holders to participate in the dividends or net assets of any Sub-Fund. The 
Company’s capital currently meets the EUR 300,000 capital required to establish a self-regulated investment 
company under the UCITS Regulations.

The following share classes are currently active:

- Growth MultiFund Class A GBP –  Accumulating (Hedged)

- Growth MultiFund Class A USD –  Accumulating

- Growth MultiFund Class B GBP –  Accumulating (Hedged)

- Growth MultiFund Class B USD –  Accumulating

- Growth MultiFund Class C GBP –  Accumulating (Hedged)

- Growth MultiFund Class C USD –  Accumulating

- Balanced MultiFund Class A GBP –  Accumulating (Hedged)

- Balanced MultiFund Class A USD –  Accumulating

- Balanced MultiFund Class B GBP –  Accumulating (Hedged)

- Balanced MultiFund Class B USD –  Accumulating

- Balanced MultiFund Class C GBP –  Accumulating (Hedged)

- Balanced MultiFund Class C USD –  Accumulating

- Income MultiFund Class A GBP –  Accumulating

- Income MultiFund Class A USD –  Accumulating (Hedged)

- Income MultiFund Class A GBP –  Distributing

- Income MultiFund Class C GBP –  Accumulating

- Income MultiFund Class C USD –  Accumulating (Hedged)

- Income MultiFund Class C GBP –  Distributing

 

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Shares
in Issue at  

Start of  
Financial Year

Shares
 Issued

Shares  
Redeemed

Shares  
in Issue at 

Financial  
Year End

Growth MultiFund

Class A GBP 1,358,371 184,507 (299,590) 1,243,288

Class A USD 5,414,699 154,574 (476,270) 5,093,003

Class B GBP 604,026 19,377 (184,758) 438,645

Class B USD 427,522 - (185,640) 241,882

Class C GBP 1,530,152 564,088 (198,393) 1,895,847

Class C USD 1,288,124 1,364,333 (158,104) 2,494,353

Balanced MultiFund 

Class A GBP 3,491,181 338,887 (742,329) 3,087,739

Class A USD 61,473,137 1,807,858 (9,140,793) 54,140,202

Class B GBP 970,369 28,202 (172,787) 825,784

Class B USD 1,370,666 7,254 (122,811) 1,255,109

Class C GBP 2,195,274 963,623 (247,994) 2,910,903

Class C USD 1,929,674 1,326,029 (387,359) 2,868,344

Income MultiFund

Class A GBP – Accumulating 348,898 134,527 (97,471) 385,954

Class A USD – Accumulating 1,018,641 45,408 (353,516) 710,533

Class A GBP – Distributing 182,384 67,452 (72,230) 177,606

Class B GBP – Accumulating 72,591 4,883 (77,474) -

Class B USD – Accumulating 211,088 - (211,088) -

Class B GBP – Distributing 395,279 - (395,279) -

Class C GBP – Accumulating 685,289 329,012 (168,892) 845,409

Class C USD – Accumulating 581,460 1,957,987 (500,651) 2,038,796

Class C GBP – Distributing 364,047 447,791 (77,033) 734,805

6. Share Capital (continued)

Share capital transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 were as follows: 
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Shares
in Issue at  

Start of  
Financial Year

Shares
 Issued

Shares  
Redeemed

Shares  
in Issue at 

Financial  
Year End

Growth MultiFund

Class A GBP 1,254,674 396,520 (292,823) 1,358,371

Class A USD 5,947,613 166,592 (699,506) 5,414,699

Class B GBP 853,240 184,003 (433,217) 604,026

Class B USD 591,704 287,095 (451,277) 427,522

Class C GBP 889,006 836,326 (195,180) 1,530,152

Class C USD 450,775 887,480 (50,131) 1,288,124

Balanced MultiFund 

Class A GBP 3,384,648 823,228 (716,695) 3,491,181

Class A USD 69,574,440 3,234,055 (11,335,358) 61,473,137

Class B GBP 1,639,448 95,377 (764,456) 970,369

Class B USD 2,103,631 217,937 (950,902) 1,370,666

Class C GBP 1,152,997 1,329,517 (287,240) 2,195,274

Class C USD 340,358 1,683,332 (94,016) 1,929,674

Income MultiFund

Class A GBP – Accumulating 476,109 57,536 (184,747) 348,898

Class A USD – Accumulating 549,406 624,969 (155,734) 1,018,641

Class A GBP – Distributing 153,378 156,528 (127,522) 182,384

Class B GBP – Accumulating 105,688 - (33,097) 72,591

Class B USD – Accumulating 220,397 - (9,309) 211,088

Class B GBP – Distributing 532,686 37,081 (174,488) 395,279

Class C GBP – Accumulating 364,575 800,699 (479,985) 685,289

Class C USD – Accumulating 87,204 494,838 (582) 581,460

Class C GBP – Distributing 186,150 660,341 (482,444) 364,047

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

6. Share Capital (continued)

Share capital transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 were as follows: 
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Shares
in Issue at  

Start of  
Financial Year

Shares
 Issued

Shares  
Redeemed

Shares  
in Issue at 

Financial  
Year End

Growth MultiFund

Class A GBP 1,254,674 396,520 (292,823) 1,358,371

Class A USD 5,947,613 166,592 (699,506) 5,414,699

Class B GBP 853,240 184,003 (433,217) 604,026

Class B USD 591,704 287,095 (451,277) 427,522

Class C GBP 889,006 836,326 (195,180) 1,530,152

Class C USD 450,775 887,480 (50,131) 1,288,124

Balanced MultiFund 

Class A GBP 3,384,648 823,228 (716,695) 3,491,181

Class A USD 69,574,440 3,234,055 (11,335,358) 61,473,137

Class B GBP 1,639,448 95,377 (764,456) 970,369

Class B USD 2,103,631 217,937 (950,902) 1,370,666

Class C GBP 1,152,997 1,329,517 (287,240) 2,195,274

Class C USD 340,358 1,683,332 (94,016) 1,929,674

Income MultiFund

Class A GBP – Accumulating 476,109 57,536 (184,747) 348,898

Class A USD – Accumulating 549,406 624,969 (155,734) 1,018,641

Class A GBP – Distributing 153,378 156,528 (127,522) 182,384

Class B GBP – Accumulating 105,688 - (33,097) 72,591

Class B USD – Accumulating 220,397 - (9,309) 211,088

Class B GBP – Distributing 532,686 37,081 (174,488) 395,279

Class C GBP – Accumulating 364,575 800,699 (479,985) 685,289

Class C USD – Accumulating 87,204 494,838 (582) 581,460

Class C GBP – Distributing 186,150 660,341 (482,444) 364,047

Units
Subscribed

Proceeds
USD

Units
Redeemed

Costs
USD

Growth MultiFund

Class A GBP 184,507 3,187,031 299,590 5,144,936

Class A USD 154,574 3,072,097 476,270 9,376,046

Class B GBP 19,377 401,793 184,758 3,832,164

Class B USD - - 185,640 2,767,399

Class C GBP 564,088 10,853,259 198,393 3,890,223

Class C USD 1,364,333 16,044,579 158,104 1,863,341

Balanced MultiFund 

Class A GBP 338,887 5,049,293 742,329 11,001,235

Class A USD 1,807,858 2,473,403 9,140,793 12,482,454

Class B GBP 28,202 481,565 172,787 2,910,836

Class B USD 7,254 92,395 122,811 1,578,087

Class C GBP 963,623 16,276,840 247,994 4,208,553

Class C USD 1,326,029 14,236,040 387,359 4,176,115

Units
Subscribed

Proceeds
GBP

Units
Redeemed

Costs
GBP

Income MultiFund

Class A GBP – Accumulating 134,527 1,614,319 97,471 1,161,792

Class A USD – Accumulating 45,408 401,357 353,516 3,099,563

Class A GBP – Distributing 67,452 634,445 72,230 677,121

Class B GBP – Accumulating 4,883 60,000 77,474 950,523

Class B USD – Accumulating - - 211,088 1,873,740

Class B GBP – Distributing - - 395,279 3,917,378

Class C GBP – Accumulating 329,012 3,757,215 168,892 1,933,258

Class C USD – Accumulating 1,957,987 15,691,780 500,651 4,041,097

Class C GBP – Distributing 447,791 4,314,789 77,033 727,228

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

6. Share Capital (continued)
The following table discloses the shares subscribed and the proceeds for subscriptions and units redeemed and cost 
for redemptions of each share class for the financial year ended 30 June 2018:



42Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds PLC      Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Units
Subscribed

Proceeds
USD

Units
Redeemed

Costs
USD

Growth MultiFund

Class A GBP 396,520 5,946,602 292,823 4,345,997

Class A USD 166,592 2,923,205 699,506 12,137,675

Class B GBP 184,003 3,250,061 433,217 7,956,737

Class B USD 287,095 3,636,674 451,277 5,816,099

Class C GBP 836,326 14,238,411 195,180 3,358,896

Class C USD 887,480 9,151,456 50,131 514,233

Balanced MultiFund 

Class A GBP 823,228 11,127,625 716,695 9,753,613

Class A USD 3,234,055 4,098,548 11,335,358 14,541,722

Class B GBP 95,377 1,485,238 764,456 11,846,930

Class B USD 217,937 2,519,345 950,902 11,163,847

Class C GBP 1,329,517 20,327,049 287,240 4,490,968

Class C USD 1,683,332 16,759,781 94,016 952,365

Units
Subscribed

Proceeds
GBP

Units
Redeemed

Costs
GBP

Income MultiFund

Class A GBP – Accumulating 57,536 675,049 184,747 2,189,832

Class A USD – Accumulating 624,969 5,627,574 155,734 1,431,264

Class A GBP – Distributing 156,528 1,496,804 127,522 1,219,565

Class B GBP – Accumulating - - 33,097 402,694

Class B USD – Accumulating - - 9,309 86,254

Class B GBP – Distributing 37,081 370,000 174,488 1,743,042

Class C GBP – Accumulating 800,699 9,053,413 479,985 5,462,193

Class C USD – Accumulating 494,838 4,096,140 582 4,893

Class C GBP – Distributing 660,341 6,427,132 482,444 4,699,522

6. Share Capital (continued)
The following table discloses the shares subscribed and the proceeds for subscriptions and units redeemed and cost 
for redemptions of each share class for the financial year ended 30 June 2017:

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)
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6. Share Capital (continued)

Significant Shareholders

The following table discloses the significant shareholders holding more than 20% of the shares in the Sub-Funds as 
at 30 June 2018:

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Fund Name
Number of Significant 

Shareholders
Total Holding as at 

30 June 2018

Aggregate Shareholdings 
as a % of the Sub Fund as 

at 30 June 2018

Growth MultiFund 2 7,005,745 61.42%

Balanced MultiFund 1 13,159,105 20.22%

Income MultiFund 2 3,393,294 69.35%

The following table discloses the significant shareholders holding more than 20% of the shares in the Sub-Funds as 
at 30 June 2017:

Fund Name
Number of Significant 

Shareholders
Total Holding as at 

30 June 2017

Aggregate Shareholdings 
as a % of the Sub Fund as 

at 30 June 2017

Growth MultiFund 2 6,135,888 57.76%

Income MultiFund 2 2,916,754 75.57%

7. Net Asset Value per Share
 Where a Sub-Fund is made up of more than one class of shares, the Net Asset Value of each class shall be 

determined by calculating the amount of the Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund attributable to each class. The 
amount of the Net Asset Value of a Sub-Fund attributable to a class shall be determined by establishing the value 
of shares in issue in the class and by allocating relevant fees and expenses to that class and making appropriate 
adjustments to take account of distributions paid out of the Sub-Fund, if applicable, and apportioning the Net 
Asset Value of the Sub-Fund accordingly. 

 The Net Asset Value per share of a class shall be calculated by dividing the Net Asset Value of the class by the 
number of shares in issue in that class. The value of the assets of a Sub-Fund shall be determined in the base 
currency of the Sub-Fund.
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Net Asset
Value

Number of 
Shares In Issue

Net Asset Value 
Per Share

Net Asset 
Value USD

Growth MultiFund

Class A GBP £16,040,367 1,243,288 £12.9016 21,177,288 

Class A USD $101,338,690 5,093,003 $19.8976 101,338,690 

Class B GBP £6,921,212 438,645 £15.7786 9,137,736 

Class B USD $3,643,780 241,882 $15.0643 3,643,780 

Class C GBP £27,689,346 1,895,847 £14.6053 36,556,859 

Class C USD $29,686,804 2,494,353 $11.9016 29,686,804 

Balanced MultiFund 

Class A GBP £34,300,622 3,087,739 £11.1087 45,285,428 

Class A USD $74,322,783 54,140,202 $1.3728 74,322,783 

Class B GBP £10,587,607 825,784 £12.8213 13,978,308 

Class B USD $16,139,643 1,255,109 $12.8592 16,139,643 

Class C GBP £36,887,827 2,910,903 £12.6723 48,701,091 

Class C USD $31,058,194 2,868,344 $10.8279 31,058,194 

Net Asset  
Value GBP

Income MultiFund

Class A GBP – Accumulating £4,582,476 385,954 £11.8731 4,582,476

Class A USD – Accumulating $8,323,595 710,533 $11.7146 6,304,555

Class A GBP – Distributing £1,602,922 177,606 £9.0252 1,602,922

Class C GBP – Accumulating £9,631,022 845,409 £11.3921 9,631,022

Class C USD – Accumulating $22,154,205 2,038,796 $10.8663 16,780,343

Class C GBP – Distributing £6,833,399 734,805 £9.2996 6,833,399

7. Net Asset Value per Share (continued)
The following table discloses the Net Asset Value of each share class in issue as at 30 June 2018:
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Net Asset
Value

Number of 
Shares In Issue

Net Asset Value 
Per Share

Net Asset 
Value USD

Growth MultiFund

Class A GBP £16,906,044 1,358,371 £12.4458 21,960,089 

Class A USD $102,270,732 5,414,699 $18.8876 102,270,732 

Class B GBP £9,157,926 604,026 £15.1615 11,895,679 

Class B USD $6,089,074 427,522 $14.2427 6,089,074 

Class C GBP £21,368,052 1,530,152 £13.9647 27,756,082 

Class C USD $14,422,572 1,288,124 $11.1966 14,422,572 

Balanced MultiFund 

Class A GBP £38,313,351 3,491,181 £10.9743 49,767,064 

Class A USD $82,044,513 61,473,137 $1.3346 82,044,512 

Class B GBP £12,241,317 970,369 £12.6151 15,900,858 

Class B USD $17,067,667 1,370,666 $12.4521 17,067,667 

Class C GBP £27,236,805 2,195,274 £12.4070 35,379,228 

Class C USD $20,132,314 1,929,674 $10.4330 20,132,314 

Net Asset  
Value GBP

Income MultiFund

Class A GBP – Accumulating £4,173,811 348,898 £11.9628 4,173,811 

Class A USD – Accumulating $11,873,677 1,018,641 $11.6564 9,141,007 

Class A GBP – Distributing £1,727,769 182,384 £9.4733 1,727,769 

Class B GBP – Accumulating £887,473 72,591 £12.2256 887,473 

Class B USD – Accumulating $2,455,969 211,088 $11.6348 1,890,729 

Class B GBP – Distributing £3,936,878 395,279 £9.9597 3,936,878 

Class C GBP – Accumulating £7,799,509 685,289 £11.3813 7,799,509 

Class C USD – Accumulating $6,237,471 581,460 $10.7272 4,801,941 

Class C GBP – Distributing £3,523,288 364,047 £9.6781 3,523,288 

7. Net Asset Value per Share (continued)
The following table discloses the Net Asset Value of each share class in issue as at 30 June 2017:
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Net Asset
Value

Number of 
Shares In Issue

Net Asset Value 
Per Share

Net Asset 
Value USD

Growth MultiFund

Class A GBP £13,545,986 1,254,674 £10.7965 18,108,274 

Class A USD $98,550,115 5,947,613 $16.5697 98,550,115 

Class B GBP £11,178,140 853,240 £13.1008 14,942,938 

Class B USD $7,363,737 591,704 $12.4450 7,363,737 

Class C GBP £10,672,774 889,006 £12.0053 14,267,364 

Class C USD* $4,388,094 450,775 $9.7345 4,388,094 

Balanced MultiFund 

Class A GBP £34,288,233 3,384,648 £10.1305 45,836,510 

Class A USD $85,979,540 69,574,440 $1.2358 85,979,540 

Class B GBP £19,014,757 1,639,448 £11.5983 25,418,928 

Class B USD $24,157,724 2,103,631 $11.4838 24,157,724 

Class C GBP £13,088,387 1,152,997 £11.3516 17,496,555 

Class C USD $3,258,510 340,358 $9.5738 3,258,510 

Net Asset  
Value GBP

Income MultiFund

Class A GBP – Accumulating £5,436,635 476,109 £11.4189 5,436,635 

Class A USD – Accumulating $6,084,785 549,406 $11.0753 4,551,754 

Class A GBP – Distributing £1,450,189 153,378 £9.4550 1,450,189 

Class B GBP – Accumulating £1,228,420 105,688 £11.6231 1,228,420 

Class B USD – Accumulating $2,426,232 220,397 $11.0084 1,814,955 

Class B GBP – Distributing £5,281,713 532,686 £9.9153 5,281,713 

Class C GBP – Accumulating £3,927,186 364,575 £10.7719 3,927,186 

Class C USD – Accumulating* $881,679 87,204 $10.1105 659,543 

Class C GBP – Distributing £1,780,240 186,150 £9.5635 1,780,240 

*First subscriptions were made on 16 October 2015.

7. Net Asset Value per Share (continued)
The following table discloses the Net Asset Value of each share class in issue as at 30 June 2016:
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

8. Deposits with Credit Institutions
 All deposits with credit institutions are held with Citibank N.A. in the name of Citi Depositary Services Ireland 

Designated Activity Company as Depositary. Citi Depositary Services Ireland Designated Activity Company 
credit rating as at 30 June 2018 was A1 (30 June 2017: A1) (Ratings Source: Moody’s Long Term).

 Deposits with credit institutions held by each of the Sub-Funds as at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 are 
detailed in the Statement of Financial Position on pages 26 and 27 respectively.

9. Directors’ Fees and Expenses
 The Directors are entitled to a fee by way of remuneration for their services at a rate to be determined from 

time to time by the Directors. Those Directors who are not associated with the Investment Manager will be 
entitled to remuneration for their services as Directors provided that the aggregate emoluments of such 
Directors in each year shall not exceed €50,000 (excluding VAT). In addition, all of the Directors will be entitled 
to be reimbursed out of the assets of each Sub-Fund for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in 
discharging their duties as Directors. 

 Directors’ fees and expenses for the financial year amounted to GBP 34,024 (30 June 2017: GBP 32,204) with 
GBP 1,038 payable as at financial year end (30 June 2017: GBP 1,284).

10. Fees and Expenses 
Management and Distribution Fees

 The Company pays to the Investment Manager monthly management and distribution fees. The amount of 
the management and distribution fees for each Sub-Fund is set out below and is expressed as a percentage per 
annum of the relevant Sub-Fund’s Net Asset Value.

Sub-Fund

Management Fee  
% Net Asset Value for 

Class A Shares

Management Fee  
% Net Asset Value for 

Class B Shares

Management Fee  
% Net Asset Value for 

Class C Shares

Growth MultiFund 1.40% 1.00% 0.50%

Balanced MultiFund 1.40% 1.00% 0.50%

Income MultiFund 1.25% 0.85% 0.40%

 This fee is accrued and calculated at each valuation point and is payable monthly in arrears. The Investment 
Manager is also entitled to be reimbursed out of the assets of each Sub-Fund for all its own reasonable  
out-of-pocket costs and expenses. The Investment Manager is responsible for the payment of the fees of any 
sub-investment manager.

 Total management and distribution fees paid and payable during the financial year amounted to GBP 3,730,451 
(30 June 2017: GBP 3,813,023) with GBP 300,092 payable as at financial year end (30 June 2017: GBP 317,092).
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

10. Fees and Expenses (continued)
 Administration Fee

 The Administrator is paid an administration fee, calculated and accrued on each dealing day and payable 
monthly in arrears out of the assets of each Sub-Fund as per the below table:

Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund Administration Fee Payable

Up to EUR 100 million Up to 0.05%

In excess of EUR 100 million but not exceeding EUR 200 million Up to 0.03%

In excess of EUR 200 million Up to 0.02%

 This is subject to a minimum fee of EUR 20,000 per annum per Sub-Fund. Additional fees are also charged for 
transfer agency and reporting services.

 The Administrator is also entitled to be reimbursed by the Company for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred by it. Administration fees paid and payable during the financial year amounted to GBP 320,893 (30 June 
2017: GBP 219,941) with GBP 151,825 payable as at financial year end (30 June 2017: GBP 38,886).

 Depositary Fees

 The Depositary receives from the Company a fee, calculated and accrued on each dealing day and payable 
monthly in arrears, at the rate of 1.80 basis points of the Net Asset Value of each Sub-Fund, subject to a 
minimum fee of USD 7,200 per annum/USD 600 per Sub-Fund per month. The Company will also reimburse 
the Depositary for transaction charges at normal commercial rates and for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses 
necessarily incurred in the performance of its duties.

 Total Depositary fees paid and payable during the financial year amounted to GBP 137,702 (30 June 2017: GBP 
127,440) with GBP 14,897 payable as at financial year end (30 June 2017: GBP 15,820).

 Operating Expenses

 The Company is responsible for all normal operating expenses including audit fees and charges incurred on the 
acquisition and realisation of investments. General operating expenses which are not allocable to a specific 
Sub-Fund are evenly split across the Sub-Funds or split based on the number of shareholders of each Sub-Fund, 
as applicable.

 Total Expense Cap

 The aggregate expenses of each Sub-Fund payable out of the assets of the Sub-Fund will not exceed 1% per 
annum of the Net Asset Value of each Sub-Fund. This will include any fees and expenses payable to each of the 
Administrator, the Depositary and all other fees and expenses as specified in the Prospectus. It does not include 
the fees of the Investment Manager or the fees of the underlying investment funds.

 Audit and Taxation Service Fees

 The remuneration for all work carried out by KPMG during the financial years ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 
2017 is as follows:

Sub-Fund
30 June 2018

GBP
30 June 2017

GBP

Statutory audit of the Company financial statements (excluding VAT) 21,666 21,061

Tax advisory services (excluding VAT) 24,000 24,000

Other assurance services - -

Other non-audit services - -
 

The audit fee (including reimbursement of expenses) shown is the GBP equivalent of the EUR 24,500 charged 
by KPMG for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 (30 June 2017: EUR 24,500).
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

11. Distributions
 The following distributions per share were approved by the Board of Directors and the Investment Manager 

and were made during the financial year:

Income MultiFund Class A GBP Distributing Class B GBP Distributing Class C GBP Distributing

29 September 2017 £0.076708 £0.080671 £0.078416

28 December 2017 £0.090378 - £0.092632

31 March 2018 £0.108207 - £0.111111

30 June 2018 £0.103567 - £0.106608

12. Financial Risk Management
 The investment process and other related activities expose the Company to a variety of financial risks, as 

mentioned in the Prospectus and Supplements. Generally, risk management is a structured approach to 
managing uncertainty. It comprises a sequence of activities including: risk assessment (risk measurement 
and monitoring), strategies developed to manage it, mitigation of risk using managerial resource, and using 
the commitment approach to calculate global exposure.

 The main recognised risk areas are: Market Risk; Credit Risk; Liquidity Risk; Operational Risk and the 
Calculation of Global Exposure.

a) Market Risk
 Market risk is the risk of loss arising from movements in market variables including observable variables 

such as interest rates, exchange rates and others that may be indirectly observable such as volatilities and 
correlations. The risk of price movements on securities and other obligations in tradable form resulting from 
risk factors and events specific to individual issuers is also considered market risk. The Sub-Funds invest 
primarily in shares or units of investment funds. Investment funds are subject to various risks in relation to 
their underlying investments. 

 Market risk is comprised of three main types of risk: Price Risk, Currency Risk and Interest Rate Risk. The 
concentration of market risk by type of investment is disclosed in more detail in the Schedule of Investments 
on pages 15 to 23.

 i) Price Risk
 The Sub-Funds’ portfolios are exposed to market price risk. Market price risk is the risk that the value of 

investment holdings will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices caused by factors specific to the 
security or factors affecting all securities traded in the market. These risks are monitored by the Investment 
Manager in pursuance of the investment objectives and policies of the Sub-Funds. Adherence to investment 
guidelines mitigates the risk of excessive exposure to any particular type of security or issuer.
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12. Financial Risk Management (continued)
a)  Market Risk (continued)
 i) Price Risk (continued)

 The following table details the movement in net assets that would result if market prices of money market and 
investment funds had increased/(decreased) by 5% as at 30 June 2018:

Growth
MultiFund

USD

Balanced
MultiFund

USD

Income
MultiFund

GBP

Total
30 June 2018

GBP

Money market funds 11,167,330 26,980,601 - 28,894,475

Equity funds 89,270,696 52,011,342 1,368,486 108,380,066

Fixed income funds 3,691,022 58,934,035 32,925,702 80,359,943

Index funds 51,636,147 41,145,959 3,734,207 74,010,371

Property funds 21,386,541 25,877,233 2,131,413 40,564,941

Other funds 18,862,355 22,173,581 4,765,832 33,213,357

Total 196,014,091 227,122,751 44,925,640 365,423,153

Net asset movement if market prices had increased/
(decreased) by 5% +/-9,800,705 +/-11,356,138 +/-2,246,282 +/-18,271,158

The following table details the movement in net assets that would result if market prices of investment funds had 
increased/(decreased) by 5% as at 30 June 2017:

Growth
MultiFund

USD

Balanced
MultiFund

USD

Income
MultiFund

GBP

Total
30 June 2017

GBP

Money market funds 14,795,962 33,215,823 1,000,000 37,961,996

Equity funds 85,515,853 46,076,651 826,435 102,133,263

Fixed income funds 3,358,005 72,843,221 29,926,240 88,589,949

Index funds 42,874,998 22,932,850 - 50,662,341

Property funds 18,141,922 22,992,691 1,368,068 33,035,656

Other funds 14,291,231 18,246,054 3,082,786 28,131,699

Total 178,977,971 216,307,290 36,203,529 340,514,904
Net asset movement if market prices had increased/
(decreased) by 5% +/-8,948,899 +/-10,815,365 +/-1,810,176 +/-17,025,745

ii) Currency Risk 
The Sub-Funds can be exposed to currency risk as a result of investing in assets denominated in currencies other 
than the base currency of the Sub-Fund. Where the Investment Manager deems it necessary, this exposure to foreign 
currency fluctuations is mitigated by the use of OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts. 

 The Sub-Funds can also be exposed to indirect foreign currency risk, where it is investing in assets which have 
underlying exposure to foreign currency, for example funds which in turn invest in foreign currency denominated 
assets. Foreign exchange risk is an on-going consideration during the asset allocation and investment selection 
process. 

 During the financial year, OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts were entered into for the purpose of 
share class hedging. The amounts are detailed in the Schedule of Investments.

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)



51Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds PLC      Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2018

12. Financial Risk Management (continued)
a)  Market Risk (continued)
 ii) Currency Risk (continued)  

30 June 2018

Sub-Fund / Share Class NAV
Forwards 

Bought Forwards Sold

Unrealised 
Gain
USD Maturity Date

Growth MultiFund

Class A GBP GBP16,040,367 GBP 7,233,192 USD 9,524,018 39,853 31/07/2018

Class B GBP GBP 6,921,212 GBP 3,120,941 USD 4,109,495 17,075 31/07/2018

Class C GBP GBP 27,689,346 GBP 12,486,939 USD 16,442,292 68,188 31/07/2018

Balanced MultiFund

Class A GBP GBP 34,300,622 GBP 22,340,839 USD 29,417,193 122,313 31/07/2018

Class B GBP GBP 10,587,607 GBP 6,893,589 USD 9,077,113 37,727 31/07/2018

Class C GBP GBP 36,887,827 GBP 24,025,443 USD 31,635,151 131,772 31/07/2018

Unrealised Loss
GBP

Income MultiFund

Class A USD Accumulation USD 8,323,595 USD 8,338,538 GBP 6,333,186 (26,718) 31/07/2018

Class C USD Accumulation USD 22,154,205 USD 22,176,805 GBP 16,843,314 (70,913) 31/07/2018

30 June 2017

Sub-Fund / Share Class NAV
Forwards 

Bought Forwards Sold

Unrealised 
Gain
USD Maturity Date

Growth MultiFund

Class A GBP GBP 16,906,044 GBP 7,631,030 USD 9,887,153 35,760 31/07/2017

Class B GBP GBP 9,157,926 GBP 4,140,420 USD 5,364,999 18,942 31/07/2017

Class C GBP GBP 21,368,052 GBP 9,644,882 USD 12,505,341 36,267 31/07/2017

Balanced MultiFund

Class A GBP GBP 38,313,351 GBP 24,942,211 USD 32,319,444 113,838 31/07/2017

Class B GBP GBP 12,241,317 GBP 7,969,104 USD 10,322,540 39,982 31/07/2017

Class C GBP GBP 27,236,805 GBP 17,730,816 USD 22,981,622 74,428 31/07/2017

Unrealised Loss
GBP

Income MultiFund

Class A USD Accumulation USD 11,873,677 USD 11,877,223 GBP 9,169,312 (35,354) 31/07/2017

Class B USD Accumulation USD 2,455,969 USD 2,460,808 GBP 1,899,706 (7,267) 31/07/2017

Class C USD Accumulation USD 6,237,471 USD 6,244,160 GBP 4,824,536 (22,582) 31/07/2017

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)
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12. Financial Risk Management (continued)
a)  Market Risk (continued)
 ii) Currency Risk (continued)

 Sensitivity analysis
 The following table sets out the sub-fund exposures to direct foreign currency risk through foreign currency 

forward contracts not used to hedged share classes. The forward contracts are disclosed in more detail in the 
Schedule of Investments. The sensitivity details the effect of a movement in net assets attributable to holders of 
redeemable shares by 3% increase/decrease in foreign currency exchange, with all other variables held constant.

 30 June 2018

 iii)  Interest Rate Risk 
 The Sub-Funds can be indirectly exposed to interest rate risk through holding investment funds which are 

themselves directly invested in interest bearing securities. Bond yields (and as a consequence bond prices) 
are determined by market perception as to the appropriate level of yields given the economic background. 
Interest rate risk is examined by the Investment Manager using an internal monitoring system. The risk can 
be reduced by diversifying (investing in funds who invest in fixed income securities with different durations). 
The Investment Manager reviews on a regular basis the values of fixed interest rate securities in underlying 
investments.

 The majority of the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Sub-Funds are non-interest bearing and any 
excess deposits with credit institutions are invested at short-term market interest rates. The Sub-Funds had no 
significant exposure to interest rate risk as at 30 June 2018 or 30 June 2017.

b) Credit Risk
 Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by 

failing to discharge an obligation. This includes counterparty risk and issuer risk. The Sub-Funds hold cash and 
cash deposits which potentially expose the Sub-Funds to counterparty risk. The Sub-Funds also hold short-term 
debtors in the form of unsettled subscription amounts, unsettled securities sold, outstanding coupon and dividend 
amounts. The risk from these is deemed to be low. Investments are spread across a large number of investment 
management houses. Investment management reviews are frequently conducted and limits are also set on the 
amount that may be due from any one manager. The carrying amounts of financial assets best represent the 
maximum credit risk exposure at the Statement of Financial Position date. 

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Sub-Fund
Derivatives forward 

contract notional Sensitivity

Growth MultiFund USD USD

GBP GBP 21,800,000 28,848,227 +/- 865,447

EUR EUR 900,000 1,054,749 +/- 31,642

Balanced MultiFund

GBP GBP 37,400,000 49,491,844 +/- 1,484,755

EUR EUR 1,300,000 1,523,526 +/- 45,706

The Investment Managers monitors the currency exposure of the underlying portfolio of each Sub-Fund by gathering 
data relating to each underlying investment. 

As at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, the Company did not face any other significant currency risk.
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12. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
b)  Credit Risk (continued)

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Sub-Fund
Derivatives forward 

contract notional Sensitivity

Growth MultiFund USD USD

GBP GBP 21,800,000 28,848,227 +/- 865,447

EUR EUR 900,000 1,054,749 +/- 31,642

Balanced MultiFund

GBP GBP 37,400,000 49,491,844 +/- 1,484,755

EUR EUR 1,300,000 1,523,526 +/- 45,706

The Investment Managers monitors the currency exposure of the underlying portfolio of each Sub-Fund by gathering 
data relating to each underlying investment. 

As at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, the Company did not face any other significant currency risk.

 This relates also to financial assets carried at amortised cost, as they have a short-term to maturity. Substantially 
all of the assets of the Sub-Funds are held by Citi Depositary Services Ireland Designated Activity Company. As 
such there is a concentration of credit risk with Citi Depositary Services Ireland Designated Activity Company. 
Bankruptcy or insolvency of the Depositary may cause the Sub-Funds’ rights with respect to securities held by the 
Depositary to be delayed or limited. The Sub-Funds will be treated as a general creditor in respect of cash held. 

 Balances due from broker represent margin accounts, cash collateral for borrowed securities and sales 
transactions awaiting settlement. Credit risk relating to unsettled transactions is considered small due to the 
short settlement period involved and the high credit quality of the brokers used. 

 The Sub-Funds’ credit risk is monitored by monitoring the credit quality and financial position of the Depositary the 
Sub-Funds use. 

  
The following are the assets of which the Company had a credit exposure to either counterparty risk or credit risk 

 to the Depositary as at 30 June 2018.

Growth
MultiFund

USD

Balanced
MultiFund

USD

Income
MultiFund

GBP

Total
30 June 2018

GBP

Money market funds 11,167,330 26,980,601 - 28,894,475

Investment funds 184,846,761 200,142,150 44,925,640 336,528,678

Unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign currency 
exchange contracts 830,390 1,471,185 188 1,743,475

Deposits with credit institutions 4,854,644 1,365,597 1,487,790 6,199,201

Total 201,699,125 229,959,533 46,413,618 373,365,829

The following are the assets of which the Company had a credit exposure to either counterparty risk or credit 
risk to the Depositary as at 30 June 2017.

Growth
MultiFund

USD

Balanced
MultiFund

USD

Income
MultiFund

GBP

Total
30 June 2017

GBP

Money market funds 14,795,962 33,215,823 1,000,000 37,961,996

Investment funds 164,182,009 183,091,467 35,203,529 302,552,908

Unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign currency 
exchange contracts 135,137 282,087 125 321,326

Deposits with credit institutions 5,634,679 4,500,063 934,093 8,736,350

Total 184,747,787 221,089,440 37,137,747 349,572,580

The Investment Manager monitors the credit rating (S&P) of the fixed income component of each of the Sub-
Funds by gathering data relating to each underlying investment fund.
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12. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
b)  Credit Risk (continued)

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

c) Liquidity Risk 

 This is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial 
liabilities. The Company is subject to cash redemptions of redeemable participating shares on each dealing day of 
the respective Sub-Fund. The dealing days are detailed in the Supplements to the Prospectus. It therefore invests 
the majority of its assets in investments that are traded in an active market and can be readily disposed of. The 
Sub-Funds’ underlying investments are considered readily realisable.

 The Sub-Funds invest in investment funds as at 30 June 2018. Liquidity risk of these funds arises from the 
redemption requests of investors and the liquidity of the underlying investments the funds are invested in. The 
shareholders of these funds may redeem their shares on the close of any daily dealing deadline for cash equal to a 
proportionate share of the funds’ NAV. The funds are therefore potentially exposed to the liquidity risk of meeting 
the shareholders’ redemptions and may need to sell assets at prevailing market prices to meet liquidity demands. 
As a shareholder in these funds, the Sub-Funds are also exposed to the liquidity risk of these funds.

 The Directors may at their discretion limit the number of shares of any Sub-Fund redeemed on any dealing day to 
shares representing 10% or more of the outstanding shares in any Sub-Fund or shares representing 10% or more 
of the total Net Asset Value of that Sub-Fund on that dealing day. In this event, the limitation will apply pro rata 
so that all shareholders wishing to have shares of that Sub-Fund redeemed on that Dealing day realise the same 
proportion of such shares. Shares not redeemed, but which would otherwise have been redeemed, will be carried 
forward for redemption on the next dealing day (subject always to the foregoing limit).

 The Investment Manager monitors the maturity profile of the fixed income component of each of the Sub-Funds 
by gathering data relating to each underlying investment fund.

As at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, the credit rating of the components making up the fixed income element of 
each underliying portfolio was as follows:

30 June 2018 30 June 2017

Credit Rating
Growth

MultiFund
Balanced

MultiFund
Income

MultiFund
Growth

MultiFund
Balanced

MultiFund
Income

MultiFund

Fixed income component 
of total portfolio 1.8% 29.8% 80.2% 1.8% 33.1% 79.0%

AAA 0.1% 21.2% 20.4% 0.2% 9.4% 16.6%

AA 13.3% 4.5% 3.6% 11.4% 3.5% 2.8%

A 20.0% 15.3% 13.0% 21.0% 14.0% 11.9%

BBB 30.7% 18.9% 17.6% 32.7% 20.4% 17.9%

< BBB 35.9% 40.1% 45.4% 34.7% 52.7% 50.8%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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12. Financial Risk Management (continued)
c) Liquidity Risk (continued)

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

d) Operational Risk

 Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the 
processes, technology and infrastructure supporting the Company’s activities with financial instruments, either 
internally within the Company or externally at the Company’s service providers, and from external factors other 
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of investment management behaviour. 

 The Company’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the limiting of financial losses and damage 
to its reputation with achieving its investment objective of generating returns to investors. 

 The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls over operational risk rests with the 
Board of Directors. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall standards for the management of 
operational risk, which encompasses the controls and processes at the service providers and the establishment of 
service levels with the service providers. The Directors’ assessment of the adequacy of the controls and processes in 
place at the service providers with respect to operational risk is carried out via regular discussions with the service 
providers.

As at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, the credit rating of the components making up the fixed income element of 
each underliying portfolio was as follows:

30 June 2018 30 June 2017

Credit Rating
Growth

MultiFund
Balanced

MultiFund
Income

MultiFund
Growth

MultiFund
Balanced

MultiFund
Income

MultiFund

Fixed income component 
of total portfolio 1.8% 29.8% 80.2% 1.8% 33.1% 79.0%

AAA 0.1% 21.2% 20.4% 0.2% 9.4% 16.6%

AA 13.3% 4.5% 3.6% 11.4% 3.5% 2.8%

A 20.0% 15.3% 13.0% 21.0% 14.0% 11.9%

BBB 30.7% 18.9% 17.6% 32.7% 20.4% 17.9%

< BBB 35.9% 40.1% 45.4% 34.7% 52.7% 50.8%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

As at 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, the maturity profiles of the components making up the fixed income element 
of each underlying portfolio was as follows:

30 June 2018 30 June 2017

Maturity Profile
Growth

MultiFund
Balanced

MultiFund
Income

MultiFund
Growth

MultiFund
Balanced

MultiFund
Income

MultiFund

Fixed income component 
of total portfolio 1.8% 29.8% 80.2% 1.8% 33.1% 79.0%

< 3 years 58.8% 27.7% 26.4% 49.5% 20.9% 28.0%

3 – 5 years 14.9% 33.4% 35.8% 18.8% 33.6% 32.3%

5 – 10 years 21.0% 26.6% 27.7% 24.6% 34.1% 29.8%

> 10 years 5.3% 12.3% 10.1% 7.1% 11.4% 9.9%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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12. Financial Risk Management (continued) 

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

e) Calculation of Global Exposure

 The global exposure of the assets held within each Sub-Fund is monitored on a daily basis. In accordance with 
the regulatory requirements, global exposure can be calculated in two ways, either;

(1) the incremental exposure generated by the instruments held by a Sub-Fund (“the commitment approach”); or

(2) where complex investment strategies are used, an advanced risk management methodology such as Value Risk 
(“VaR”) will be employed.

 The Investment Manager will monitor the assets of each Sub-Fund to ensure that global exposure and leverage 
will, at all times, remain within the limits set by the Central Bank of Ireland. The commitment approach is used 
to calculate global exposure on all Sub-Funds in operation at 30 June 2018.

 In accordance with the commitment approach, global exposure is broadly defined as the total market value 
of the equivalent underlying to all of the financial derivative instruments (“FDIs”) entered into by a Sub-Fund 
(subject to all specific valuation rules described in the European Securities and Markets Authority guidelines).

f)  Concentration Risk

 As the assets of the sub funds may be invested in a limited number of investments which may be concentrated in 
a few industries, sectors of the economy or issuers, the negative impact on the value of the assets of the sub funds 
from adverse movements in a particular economy or industry or in the value of securities of a particular issuer could 
be considerably greater than if the sub funds were not permitted to concentrate its investments to such an extent.

 Concentrations of risk are disclosed in some detail in the Schedules of Investments of each Sub-Fund.

13. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
 This requires the Sub-Funds to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 

significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are 
described below:

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical securities.

Level 2: Prices determined using significant observable inputs. Observable inputs are inputs that reflect the 
assumptions market participants would use in pricing a security and are developed based on market 
data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity (including quoted prices for similar 
investments, interest rates, prepayment speeds, credit risk, etc.)

Level 3: Prices determined using significant unobservable inputs. In situations where quoted prices or observable 
inputs are unavailable or deemed less relevant (for example, when there is little or no market activity for 
an investment at the end of the financial year), unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the reporting 
entity’s own assumptions about the factors market participants would use in pricing the security and 
would be based on the best information available under the circumstances.

 The inputs or methodology used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated 
with investing in those securities. The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement 
is categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value 
measurement in its entirety.

 Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, 
considering factors specific to the asset or liability. The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires 
significant judgement. The Directors consider observable data to be that market data that is readily available, 
regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources 
that are actively involved in the relevant market.
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13. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (continued) 

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Other than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, all other financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss, are short-term financial assets 
and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value. In accordance with IFRS 13, these financial 
assets and financial liabilities are classified as Level 2 apart from deposits with credit institutions which are classified 
as Level 1.

As at 30 June 2018, the inputs used in valuing the Sub-Fund’s investments, which are carried at fair value, were as follows:

Growth 
MultiFund

USD

Balanced 
MultiFund

USD

Income
MultiFund

GBP
Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets  
Assets

Money market funds 11,167,330 26,980,601 -

Investment funds 184,846,761 200,142,150 44,925,640

Total Level 1  196,014,091 227,122,751 44,925,640

Level 2 – Other observable inputs
Assets

Unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts 830,390 1,471,185 188

Liabilities

Unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts (15,164) (21,331) (97,819)

Total Level 2 815,226 1,449,854 (97,631)

As at 30 June 2018, there were no investments classified as Level 3 held by the Sub-Funds. There were no transfers 
between levels during the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

As at 30 June 2017, the inputs used in valuing the Sub-Fund’s investments, which are carried at fair value, were as follows:

Growth 
MultiFund

USD

Balanced 
MultiFund

USD

Income
MultiFund

GBP
Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets 
Assets

Money market funds 14,795,962 33,215,823 1,000,000

Investment funds 164,182,009 183,091,467 35,203,529

Total Level 1 178,977,971 216,307,290 36,203,529

Level 2 – Other observable inputs
 Assets

Unrealised gain on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts 135,137 282,087 125

Liabilities

Unrealised loss on OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts (296,749) (254,417) (65,328)

Total Level 2 (161,612) 27,670 (65,203)

As at 30 June 2017, there were no investments classified as Level 3 held by the Sub-Funds. There were no transfers 
between levels during the financial year ended 30 June 2017.
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14. Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are not subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting 
arrangements and similar agreements.

15. Interests in Unconsolidated Structured Entities
The Company meets the definition of an Investment Entity under IFRS 10 and therefore does not consolidate any 
investments. IFRS 12 requires disclosures around “Unconsolidated Structured Entities”. IFRS 12 defines a structured 
entity as an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding 
who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to the administrative tasks only and the relevant 
activities are directed by means of contractual agreements. Disclosures are required where an interest is held in a 
structured entity and where, for example, the investor has been involved in the setting up of the structured entity 
and the investor would have exposure to potential losses or costs over and above the amount actually invested.

The table below describes the types of structured entities that the Company does not consolidated but in 
which it holds an interest.

Type of structured entity Nature and purpose Interest held by the Fund

Money market and investment funds

To manage assets on behalf of third  
party investors and generate fees  
for the investment manager.  
These vehicles are financed through  
the issue of units to investors.

Investments in units/shares issued by 
the funds

 
The table below sets out interests held by the Company in unconsolidated structured entities. The maximum 
exposure to loss is the carrying amount of the financial assets held. 

As at 30 June 2018

Number of investee funds
Total net assets range in 

GBP millions Fair value of investments 
Growth MultiFund USD

Money market funds 1 33,322 11,167,330 

Equity funds 6 400 – 8,000 89,270,696 

Fixed income funds 1 13,311 3,691,022 

Index funds 2 7,000 – 9,000 51,636,147 

Property funds 5 60 – 1,400 21,386,541 

Other funds 6 100 – 1,700 18,862,355 

Total 196,014,091 

Balanced MultiFund USD

Money market funds 1 33,322 26,980,601 

Equity funds 6  400 – 8,000 52,011,342 

Fixed income funds 6  100 – 14,500 58,934,035 

Index funds 3  70 – 9,000 41,145,959 

Property funds 5  60 – 1,400 25,877,233 

Other funds 6  100 – 1,700 22,173,581 

Total 227,122,751 

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)
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Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)

Number of investee funds
Total net assets range in 

GBP millions Fair value of investments 
Income MultiFund GBP

Equity funds 1 699 1,368,486 

Fixed income funds 7 100 – 14,500 32,925,702 

Index funds 1 1,533 3,734,207 

Property Funds 4 150 – 1,400 2,131,413 

Other Funds 6 100 – 1,700 4,765,832 

Total 44,925,640 

As at 30 June 2017

Number of investee funds
Total net assets range in 

GBP millions Fair value of investments 
Growth MultiFund USD

Money market funds 1 28,594 14,795,962

Equity funds 6 500 - 2,100 85,515,853

Fixed income funds 1 4,133 3,358,005

Index funds 2 7,000 - 7,500 42,874,998

Property funds 4 160 - 2,100 18,141,922

Other funds 5 200 - 2,000 14,291,231

Total 178,977,971

Balanced MultiFund USD

Money market funds 1 28,594 33,215,823

Equity funds 6 500 - 2,100 46,076,651

Fixed income funds 6 400 - 14,600 72,843,221

Index funds 2 7,000 - 7,500 22,932,850

Property funds 4 160 - 2,100 22,992,691

Other funds 5 200 - 2,000 18,246,054

Total 216,307,290

Income MultiFund GBP

Money market funds 1 5,081 1,000,000

Equity funds 1 763 826,435

Fixed income funds 7 400 – 15,000 29,926,240

Property Funds 2 300 – 1,500 1,368,068

Other Funds 5 200 – 2,000 3,082,786

Total 36,203,529

During the financial year ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017, the Company did not provide financial support 
to unconsolidated structured entities.

15. Interests in Unconsolidated Structured Entities (continued)
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16. Efficient Portfolio Management

 Subject to the conditions and within the limits from time to time laid down by the Central Bank of Ireland, and 
except as otherwise stated in the investment objective and policies of a Sub-Fund, the Investment Manager may 
employ, for certain Sub-Funds, investment techniques and instruments such as future contracts, options, OTC 
forward foreign currency exchange contracts and other derivatives for efficient portfolio management purposes. 
Furthermore, new techniques and instruments may be developed which may be suitable for use by a Sub-Fund in 
the future, and a Sub-Fund may employ such techniques and instruments subject to the prior approval of, and any 
restrictions imposed by, the Central Bank of Ireland.

 For UCITS which have invested in FDIs and/or engaged in efficient portfolio management techniques, new 
disclosures are required under UCITS Regulation 79(1). The Investment Manager of the Sub-Funds has identified 
all FDIs which are OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts for which the counterparty is Citigroup. The 
notional amounts are detailed in the Schedule of Investments.

 The Sub-Funds may employ FDIs comprising OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts, exchange traded 
options and exchange traded futures as described in the Prospectus for the efficient portfolio management of the 
Sub-Fund and for hedging purposes, within the limits laid down by Central Bank of Ireland. During the financial 
year, OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts were entered into for the purpose of hedging currency 
and market exposure. The notional amounts are detailed in the Schedule of Investments. The relevant Sub-Funds 
may have entered into OTC forward foreign currency exchange contracts and other foreign currency derivative 
transactions for the purposes of limiting the foreign currency exposure arising out of the non-base currency 
denomination of the investments of the Sub-Fund or the currency exposure arising between the base currency 
and the currency of denomination of each class of shares. 

 The Sub-Funds did not engage in the efficient portfolio management techniques of repurchase, reverse repurchase 
and stock lending arrangements.

 Details of all open transactions as at the financial year end are disclosed in the Schedule of Investments.

 17. Significant Events during the Financial Year

 There were no other significant events during the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

18. Subsequent Events

 There were no subsequent events affecting the financial statements since the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

19. Financial Statements 
 These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 17 October 2018.

Notes to the financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2018 (continued)
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 Paragraph 79(b) of the UCITS Regulations requires a schedule detailing the significant purchases and sales made during 
the financial year. Material changes are defined as aggregate purchases of a security exceeding one per cent of the total 
value of purchases for the financial year and aggregate disposals greater than one per cent of the total value of sales. 
At a minimum, the largest 20 purchases and 20 sales must be given or all purchases and sales if less than 20.

Nedgroup Investments Growth MultiFund
All purchases for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 were as follows:

Security Description Shares/Par Cost
USD

Purchases

Dodge & Cox Worldwide Funds plc - Global Stock Fund (UCITS) 300,226 6,900,000

SQN Asset Finance Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 3,219,508 4,037,670

3i Infrastructure plc (AIF) 745,930 2,242,826

Target Healthcare REIT Ltd (AIF) 1,324,074 1,997,996

Vanguard Investment Series plc - Global Stock Index Fund (UCITS) 40,601 1,100,000

GCP Asset Backed Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 798,634 1,078,631

Nedgroup Investment Funds plc - Global Property (UCITS) 972,668 1,000,000

Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock Index Fund/Ireland (UCITS) 3,740 750,000

Nedgroup Investments Funds plc - Global Equity Fund (UCITS) 373,727 730,000

All sales for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 were as follows:

Security Description Shares/Par Proceeds
USD

Sales

SQN Asset Finance Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 3,820,957 4,839,684

Most Diversified Portfolio SICAV - TOBAM Anti-Benchmark World Equity Fund 
(UCITS) 287 4,499,998

Morgan Stanley Investment Funds - Global Brands Fund (UCITS) 37,925 2,400,000

3i Infrastructure plc (AIF) 780,000 1,873,230

Vanguard Investment Series plc - Global Stock Index Fund (UCITS) 64,008 1,800,000

F&C Commercial Property Trust Ltd (AIF) 592,980 1,176,595

GCP Asset Backed Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 816,001 1,078,631

Allianz Global Small Cap Equity (UCITS) 180 395,609

Significant Purchase and Sales (Unaudited)
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Nedgroup Investments Balanced MultiFund
All purchases for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 were as follows:

Security Description Shares/Par Cost
USD

Purchases

Wellington Management Funds Ireland plc - Wellington Global Credit Plus Fund (UCITS) 767,337 9,630,000

Vanguard Investment Series PLC - US Government Bond Index Fund (UCITS) 53,140 9,400,000

SQN Asset Finance Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 3,500,941 4,405,059

Dodge & Cox Worldwide Funds plc - Global Stock Fund (UCITS) 175,293 4,000,000

Vanguard Investment Series plc - Global Stock Index Fund (UCITS) 119,713 3,275,000

3i Infrastructure plc (AIF) 845,044 2,558,520

Target Healthcare REIT Ltd (AIF) 1,546,296 2,333,324

Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock Index Fund/Ireland (UCITS) 6,780 1,350,000

GCP Asset Backed Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 803,756 1,085,548

Allianz Global Small Cap Equity (UCITS) 342 743,463

Nedgroup Investment Funds plc - Global Property (UCITS) 583,601 600,000

Nedgroup Investments Funds plc - Global Equity Fund (UCITS) 277,511 550,000

Kames High Yield Global Bond (UCITS) 8,602 95,218

All sales for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 were as follows:

Security Description Shares/Par Proceeds
USD

Sales

Wellington Management Funds Ireland plc - Wellington Global Credit Plus Fund (UCITS) 808,871 10,040,000

Kames High Yield Global Bond (UCITS) 747,531 8,343,697

Institutional Cash Series plc - Institutional US Dollar Liquidity Fund (UCITS) 65,269 6,700,000

AXA Fixed Interest ICVC - US Short Duration High Yield Fund (UCITS) 3,216,353 6,136,289

SQN Asset Finance Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 4,536,070 5,755,651

Nedgroup Investments Funds plc - Global Equity Fund (UCITS) 1,772,816 3,400,000

GCP Asset Backed Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 3,307,470 3,163,551

Impact Healthcare REIT plc (AIF) 2,500,000 3,070,750

Most Diversified Portfolio SICAV - TOBAM Anti-Benchmark World Equity Fund (UCITS) 165 2,599,999

3i Infrastructure plc (AIF) 994,500 2,388,368

PIMCO Funds Global Investors Series plc - Global Investment Grade Credit Fund (UCITS) 122,732 2,300,000

F&C Commercial Property Trust Ltd (AIF) 907,984 1,801,632

Morgan Stanley Investment Funds - Global Brands Fund (UCITS) 20,205 1,280,000

Coronation Global Emerging Market Fund (UCITS) 43,991 500,000

Vanguard Investment Series plc - Global Stock Index Fund (UCITS) 16,099 400,000

Significant Purchase and Sales (Unaudited)
(continued)
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Nedgroup Investments Income MultiFund
All purchases for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 were as follows:

Security Description Shares/Par Cost
GBP

Purchases

Vanguard Investment Series PLC - US Government Bond Index Fund (UCITS) 37,218 3,700,000

Wellington Management Funds Ireland plc - Wellington Global Credit Plus Fund (UCITS) 205,046 2,250,000

PIMCO Funds Global Investors Series plc - Global Investment Grade Credit Fund (UCITS) 112,734 1,550,000

SQN Asset Finance Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 1,176,522 1,138,981

iShares UK Dividend UCITS ETF 62,970 554,986

3i Infrastructure plc (AIF) 232,145 499,725

Franklin Templeton Investment Funds - Templeton Global Total Return Fund (UCITS) 44,930 465,000

Target Healthcare REIT Ltd (AIF) 407,407 440,000

Muzinich Short Duration High Yield Fund (UCITS) 4,562 400,000

AXA Fixed Interest ICVC - US Short Duration High Yield Fund (UCITS) 396,186 375,000

GCP Asset Backed Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 299,998 307,715

John Laing Environmental Assets Group Ltd (AIF) 203,883 210,315

Kames Short Dated High Yield Global Bond Fund (UCITS) 20,063 200,000

Greencoat UK Wind plc/Funds (AIF) 121,153 141,749

Kames High Yield Global Bond (UCITS) 11,478 125,000

3i Infrastructure plc (AIF) 50,125 100,150

All sales for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 were as follows:

Security Description Shares/Par Proceeds
GBP

Sales

Wellington Management Funds Ireland plc - Wellington Global Credit Plus Fund (UCITS) 228,419 2,450,000

Kames High Yield Global Bond (UCITS) 156,371 1,700,000

AXA Fixed Interest ICVC - US Short Duration High Yield Fund (UCITS) 1,796,091 1,700,000

SQN Asset Finance Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 1,227,020 1,203,965

Insight Liquidity Funds plc - GBP Liquidity Fund (UCITS) 560,000 560,000

3i Infrastructure plc (AIF) 225,625 389,726

GCP Asset Backed Income Fund Ltd (AIF) 207,564 207,564

F&C Commercial Property Trust Ltd (AIF) 95,298 135,627

Significant Purchase and Sales (Unaudited)
(continued)
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Additional Information (Unaudited)

Remuneration Disclosure
The Company has adopted a remuneration policy (“the Remuneration Policy”) which takes into consideration 
the Central Bank UCITS Regulations and EMSA’s Guidelines on Sound Remuneration Policies under the UCITS 
Directive. The Remuneration Policy applies to those categories of staff as defined by the Central Bank who receive 
remuneration from the Company and whose professional activities have a material impact on the risk profile of 
the Company. The Company has no employees or staff that it employs and pays directly.

The Company has a board of directors, two of which are employees of Nedgroup Investments (IOM) Limited 
and receive no remuneration from the Company. The remaining three directors receive a fixed remuneration 
under the form of a directorship fee, a salary or any other type of remuneration (“Fixed Remuneration”). The 
members of the Board who carry out pre-approved control functions will not receive any additional fixed or 
variable remuneration in connection with their work as Board members. Accordingly, the detailed provisions of 
Article 14b of Directive 2009/65/EC and the related ESMA Guidelines on sound remuneration policies under the 
UCITS Directive in relation to variable remuneration are not applicable to the Company. None of the directors are 
currently in receipt of a pension from the Company. The Company has determined that the fixed remuneration 
payable to the directors who are not employees of Investment Manager is (a) consistent with sound and 
effective risk management and does not encourage risk-taking which is inconsistent with the risk profile, rules 
or instrument of incorporation of the Company and (b) in line with the business strategy, objectives, values and 
interests of the Company and the investors in the Company. The nature of the directors’ remuneration, being 
fixed and not including any variable component and being determined by the Board as a whole, ensures that the 
Company appropriately manages any conflicts of interest in respect of remuneration.

The Board at least once per year reviews the Remuneration Policy. In reviewing the Remuneration Policy, the 
Board will consider whether overall the remuneration system operated as intended and is compliant with all 
national and international regulations, principles and standard. There have been no material changes to the 
Remuneration Policy during the financial year. Details of the up-to-date remuneration policy, including, but not 
limited to, a description of how remuneration and benefits are calculated, the identity of persons responsible for 
awarding the remuneration and benefits, are available at www.nedgroupinvestments.com.

Remuneration in respect of financial year ended 30 June 2018

Total remuneration for the financial year (excluding VAT) GBP 33,606

Fixed Remuneration GBP 33,606

Variable Remuneration -

Number of beneficiaries 3

Exchange Rates

The GBP and USD exchange rates used in this report are as follows: 

30 June 2018 30 June 2017

GBP rates

EUR 1.1308 1.1389

USD 1.3202 1.2990

USD rates

EUR 0.8565 0.8768

GBP 0.7575 0.7699
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Additional Information (Unaudited) (continued)

Securities Soft Lending
No securities lending took place during the financial year ended 30 June 2018 (30 June 2017: Nil).

Direct Brokerage
There were no direct brokerage services utilised for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 (30 June 2017: Nil).

Soft Commission Agreements
There were no soft commission arrangements entered into by the Investment Manager on behalf of the Company 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2018 (30 June 2017: Nil).

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
As at the Statement of Financial Position date, the Company has no commitments or contingent liabilities (30 
June 2017: Nil).

Securities Financing Transactions Regulation (SFTR) (EU 2015/2365)
During the financial year ended 30 June 2018 the sub-funds did not enter into any transaction that requires 
disclosure under the Securities Financing Transaction Regulation.
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Additional Information (Unaudited) (continued)
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Additional Information (Unaudited) (continued)
In

ve
st

m
en

t 
Fu

nd
s

M
an

ag
er

D
om

ic
ile

M
an

ag
em

en
t  

Fe
e 

%
Pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 

Fe
e 

%
Su

bs
cr

ip
ti

on
  

Fe
e 

%
Re

de
m

pt
io

n  
Fe

e 
%

Ka
m

es
 S

ho
rt

 D
at

ed
 H

ig
h 

Yi
el

d 
 

G
lo

ba
l B

on
d 

Fu
nd

 (U
CI

TS
)

Ka
m

es
 C

ap
ita

l  
M

an
ag

em
en

t L
im

ite
d

Ire
la

nd
0.

25
%

0.
00

%
5.

00
%

0.
00

%

M
or

ga
n 

St
an

le
y 

In
ve

st
m

en
t F

un
ds

 - 
 

G
lo

ba
l B

ra
nd

s 
Fu

nd
 (U

CI
TS

)
M

or
ga

n 
St

an
le

y 
In

ve
st

m
en

t 
M

an
ag

em
en

t L
im

ite
d

Lu
xe

m
bo

ur
g

0.
75

%
0.

00
%

1.
00

%
0.

00
%

M
os

t D
iv

er
si

fie
d 

Po
rt

fo
lio

 S
IC

AV
 - 

 
TO

BA
M

 A
nt

i-B
en

ch
m

ar
k 

W
or

ld
 E

qu
ity

 F
un

d 
(U

CI
TS

)
TO

BA
M

Lu
xe

m
bo

ur
g

1.
20

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

M
uz

in
ic

h 
Sh

or
t D

ur
at

io
n 

H
ig

h 
Yi

el
d 

Fu
nd

 (U
CI

TS
)

M
uz

in
ic

h 
&

 C
o 

(Ir
el

an
d)

 
Li

m
ite

d
Ire

la
nd

0.
50

%
0.

00
%

1.
00

%
1.

00
%

N
ed

gr
ou

p 
In

ve
st

m
en

ts
 F

un
ds

 p
lc

 - 
 

G
lo

ba
l E

qu
ity

 F
un

d 
(U

CI
TS

)
N

ed
gr

ou
p 

In
ve

st
m

en
ts

  
(IO

M
) L

im
ite

d
Ire

la
nd

0.
75

%
0.

00
%

3.
00

%
0.

00
%

N
ed

gr
ou

p 
In

ve
st

m
en

ts
 F

un
ds

 p
lc

 - 
 

G
lo

ba
l P

ro
pe

rt
y 

(U
CI

TS
)

N
ed

gr
ou

p 
In

ve
st

m
en

ts
  

(IO
M

) L
im

ite
d

Ire
la

nd
1.

00
%

0.
00

%
3.

00
%

1.
00

%

PI
M

CO
 F

un
ds

 G
lo

ba
l I

nv
es

to
rs

 S
er

ie
s 

pl
c 

-  
G

lo
ba

l I
nv

es
tm

en
t G

ra
de

 C
re

di
t F

un
d 

(U
CI

TS
)

PI
M

CO
 G

lo
ba

l A
dv

is
or

s 
(Ir

el
an

d)
 L

im
ite

d
Ire

la
nd

0.
49

%
**

0.
00

%
5.

00
%

0.
00

%

SQ
N

 A
ss

et
 F

in
an

ce
 In

co
m

e 
Fu

nd
 L

td
 (A

IF
)

SQ
N

 C
ap

ita
l  

M
an

ag
em

en
t L

LC
G

ue
rn

se
y

1.
00

%
**

*
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

St
an

da
rd

 L
ife

 In
ve

st
m

en
t P

ro
pe

rt
y 

In
co

m
e 

Tr
us

t (
AI

F)
St

an
da

rd
 L

ife
 In

ve
st

m
en

ts
 

(C
or

po
ra

te
 F

un
ds

) L
im

ite
d

G
ue

rn
se

y
0.

75
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%

Ta
rg

et
 H

ea
lth

ca
re

 R
EI

T 
Lt

d 
(A

IF
)

Ta
rg

et
 F

un
d 

M
an

ag
er

s 
Li

m
ite

d
Je

rs
ey

0.
90

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

Va
ng

ua
rd

 E
m

er
gi

ng
 M

ar
ke

ts
  

St
oc

k 
In

de
x 

Fu
nd

/I
re

la
nd

 (U
CI

TS
)

Va
ng

ua
rd

 G
ro

up
  

(Ir
el

an
d)

 L
im

ite
d

Ire
la

nd
0.

27
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%

Va
ng

ua
rd

 In
ve

st
m

en
t S

er
ie

s 
pl

c 
-  

G
lo

ba
l S

to
ck

 In
de

x 
Fu

nd
 (U

CI
TS

)
Va

ng
ua

rd
 G

ro
up

  
(Ir

el
an

d)
 L

im
ite

d
Ire

la
nd

0.
25

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

Va
ng

ua
rd

 In
ve

st
m

en
t S

er
ie

s 
pl

c 
-  

U
S 

G
ov

er
nm

en
t B

on
d 

In
de

x 
Fu

nd
 (U

CI
TS

)
Va

ng
ua

rd
 G

ro
up

  
(Ir

el
an

d)
 L

im
ite

d
Ire

la
nd

0.
25

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

W
el

lin
gt

on
 M

an
ag

em
en

t F
un

ds
 Ir

el
an

d 
pl

c 
-  

W
el

lin
gt

on
 G

lo
ba

l C
re

di
t P

lu
s 

Fu
nd

 (U
CI

TS
)

W
el

lin
gt

on
 M

an
ag

em
en

t 
Co

m
pa

ny
 L

LP
Ire

la
nd

0.
30

%
0.

00
%

0.
00

%
0.

00
%

*E
nt

itl
ed

 to
 a

 q
ua

rt
er

ly
 c

as
h 

fe
e 

(u
p 

to
 0

.2
5%

 o
f t

he
 N

AV
) a

nd
 e

qu
ity

 e
le

m
en

t f
ee

 (u
p 

to
 0

.0
5%

 o
f t

he
 N

AV
). 

**
Pu

bl
is

he
d 

m
ax

im
um

 m
an

ag
em

en
t f

ee
 is

 2
.5

0%
.

**
*M

an
ag

em
en

t F
ee

: 1
.0

0%
 u

p 
to

 £
30

0m
 / 

0.
90

%
 o

ve
r £

30
0m

 to
 £

50
0m

.



Investment Manager, Distributor & Promotor
Nedgroup Investments (IOM) Limited

Address:
First Floor,
St Mary’s Court
20 Hill Street
Douglas
Isle of Man
IM1 1EU

Nedgroup Investments (IOM) Limited (reg no 57917C), the Investment Manager and Distributor of the 
Fund, is licensed by the Isle of Man Financial Services Authority.

Nedgroup Investments MultiFunds PLC is registered in Ireland, number 502599

www.nedgroupinvestments.com


